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Commonwealth of Virginia 
State Corporation Commission 

Bureau of Insurance 

CONTINUING CARE PROVIDER REGISTRATION STATEMENT 

Legal Name of Provider: Covenant Woods 

Recorded Trade Name(s): 

Mailing Address of Provider: ..;..7.a;..09"-0.;;........;;;C;...;;o....;.v...;;;.e=n=an __ t __ W...;.......ao....;.o"'"'"d-"--s __ D ___ r __ i v ___ e _________________ _ 

Mechanicsville. VA 23 I I I 

Location of Provider: 7090 Covenant Woods Drive 

Mechanicsville. VA 23 11 l 

Telephone Number: 804-569-8002 

Contact Person: Juanita Parks. Chief Financial Officer 

On what date (month/day) does your fiscal year end: March 31 

Have all applicable certificate of need requirements imposed by the Health Department for existing and 
planned facilities been met? ves If no, attach an exhibit that described the nature of the certificate 
of need deficiency and how it affects your ability to serve current and future residents. 

Have all other applicable licensure or certification requirements been met? yes If no, attach an 
exhibit that describes the nature of the deficiency and how it affects your ability to serve current and 
future residents . 

• •.• -~~-~ ... "', •• ~·._:•• ... ;:: ~ ... \ •. 1 ..... • ~.: .... • <<-,, .. ~. •.,:·"·~ ... !"• . 

\• ... ' '• ~ ,·~ I;. f. ·, ~ ··-. • . • 

Are yojJ in complia~c.~:~>-Yit~Jll other state, federal, and municipal laws and regulations? yes If no, 
attach ~n exhibitthat'deseribes• the nature of your noncompliance and how it affects your ability to serve 
curren~fid-future~res.iderits-.. ,. · .. -··.· : ·.:::'. 'f/ ~ 

Are you bankrupt, insolvent, under reorganization pursuant to federal bankruptcy laws, or in imminent 
danger of becoming bankrupt or insolvent? no If yes, attach an exhibit that describes the nature of 
the bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or imminent bankruptcy or insolvency and how it affects 
your ability to serve current and future residents. 



Thom Wright as a duly authorized officer, principal, general partner, or 
(Name) 

trustee of Covenant Woods hereby certify that the information contained 
(Continuing Care Provider) 

herein, in any attached exhibits, and in the attached disclosure statement is a true representation of said 
provider's operation, financial condition, and method of doing business. 

COMMONWEAL TH OF VIRGINIA 

CITY/COUNTY OF Y'iancwec 

President and CEO 
(Title) 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this J. ~ day of ~ u.i5f. 20 6(5 

My commission expires: oe/,3, / fi).,Qil,{,, 
I 
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DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

for 

COVENANT WOODS 

CONTINUING CARE PROVIDER 

The provider is Covenant Woods (the "Corporation"). The Corporation currently owns and operates a 
facility for the aged located at 7090 Covenant Woods Drive, Mechanicsville, Virginia 23111 (the 
"Covenant Woods Facility") in Hanover County, Virginia. The Corporation is a Virginia non-stock 
corporation without members. The Corporation was established in 1883 to provide a home for elderly 
women in need. The amended and restated Articles of Incorporation, filed with the State Corporation 
Commission in 1999, provide that the purpose of the Corporation is the providing of services and 
facilities in the Commonwealth of Virginia to meet the special needs of the elderly, including without 
limitation, the services of providing a continuing care retirement community in which elderly men and 
women of responsible character may be provided a comfortable home and health care. The Corporation 
is also the sole member of Advance Care LLC, a home health agency; Advance Care Hospice LLC, a 
hospice agency, and Parker & Gregg LLC, a holding company whose purpose is to help fund strategic 
initiatives. The Corporation also started Woodhouse Catering, a for-profit catering business in 2021, this 
company was dissolved in 2022. Advance Care, Advance Care Hospice, and Parker & Gregg are 
disregarded entities for tax purposes with all revenues and activities flowing through Covenant Woods 
990. Advance Care and Advance Care Hospice ceased operations in January 2024. 

OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, TRUSTEES, MANAGING AND GENERAL PARTNERS, AND 
CERTAIN PERSONS WHO HOLD EQUITY OR BENEFICIAL INTERESTS 
The names and addresses of the current Officers and Directors of the Corporation are: 

Kyle Russell - Chairman Michele Satterlund 
8021 Strawhorn Drive 3600 Moss Side Avenue 
Mechanicsville, VA 23116 Richmond, VA 23222 
Richard Adams - Vice Chairman Nathan Kortkamp 
3624 Edenfield Road 200 S. 10th Street, Ste 1600 
Midlothian, VA 23113 Richmond, VA 23219 
Ed Clingman - Secretary Marjorie Cooke 
73 71 Beulah Church Road 7090 Covenant Woods Drive, M106 
Mechanicsville, VA 23111 Mechanicsville, VA 23111 
Joe O'Connor Richard Gibbons 
3551 Parsleys Mill Rd 7090 Covenant Woods Drive, F 102 
Mechanicsville, VA 23111 Mechanicsville, VA 23111 
Marie Pisecki Julia Meade Tulli 

3642 Caddington Terrace 8009 Strawhorn Drive 
Midlothian, VA 23113 Mechanicsville, VA 23116 
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Kathryn Hamann Kelsey Beaulieu 
3900 McTyres Cove Court 8136 Greystone East Circle 
Midlothian, VA 23112 Richmond, VA 23229 

Patrice Stokes Anju Dhaliwal 
3825 Pheasant Chase Drive 1833 Netherwood Road 
Midlothian, VA 23112 Richmond, VA 23225 

Abigail Floyd 
3224 Brook Road, #201 
Richmond, VA 23225 

Additionally, there are two corporate officers: 

President, Chief Executive Officer Thom Wright 
7090 Covenant Woods Drive 
Mechanicsville, Virginia 23111 

Chief Financial Officer Juanita Parks 
7090 Covenant Woods Drive 
Mechanicsville, Virginia 23111 

The Corporation has no trustees and no managing or general partners. No person has a ten percent 
(10%) or greater equity or beneficial interest in the Corporation. The Corporation has no members. 
The Corporation is a cooperative effort of the United Methodist Church and the Presbyterian Church 
(U.S.A.). Neither church, however, is responsible for the financial and contractual obligations of the 
Corporation. 

The Governing Committee, appointed by the Board of Directors, nominates persons to stand for 
election to the Board of Directors. The sitting president of the Residents' Council serves as a non­
voting member of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors currently consists of 15 voting 
Board members plus the Resident Council Chair. 

BUSINESS EXPERIENCE OF; ACQUISITION OF GOODS AND SERVICES FROM; AND 
CRIMINAL, CIVIL AND REGULA TORY PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE PROVIDER; ITS 
OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, TRUSTEES, MANAGING AND GENERAL PARTNERS; CERTAIN 
PERSONS WHO HOLD EQUITY OR BENEFICIAL INTERESTS; AND THE MANAGEMENT 

A. B11si11ess Experience 

The Corporation operated the Richmond Home for Ladies in the City of Richmond, Virginia from 1914 to 200 I . 
The Corporation has operated the Covenant Woods Facility since July 2001. 

The experience in operation or management of the Corporation by the Directors and Officers is as follows: 

4 



Director Member Since Experience 
Kelsey Beaulieu 2020 Financial planner, Morgan Stanley 

Kyle Russell 2022 CEO, VHI 
Michelle Satterlund 2020 Attorney, McGuire Woods 

Ed Clingman 2020 Attorney & CPA, bankruptcy attorney 
Nathan Kottkamp 2024 Attorney, Williams Mullen 
Marjorie Cooke 2023 Retired Nurse 
Richard Adams 2022 Financial Advisor 

Richard Gibbons 2024 Resident, Landscaping 
Marie Pisecki 2024 Retired Investment Analyst 
Joe O'Connor 2021 Retired Project Manager 

Julia Meade Tulli 2025 VP, Digital Advocacy 
Kathryn Hamann 2025 Personal Moving Assistant 

Patrice Stokes 2025 Retired COO of St. Paul's Baptist Church 
Anj u Dhaliwal 2025 Financial Advisor 
Abigail Floyd 2025 VP Digital Advocacy 

Officers: Member Experience: 
Since 

Kyle Russell, Chairman 2022 CEO, VHI 
Richard Adams, Vice Chair 2022 Financial Advisor 
Ed Clingman Secretary 2020 Attorney & CPA 

B. Reserve Funding 

The investments of the Corporation are directed by the Finance Committee of the Corporation with the 
benefit of professional advice. An Investment Policy has been developed in consultation with our 
investment advisor and Board adopted with the intention to maximize returns, while seeking to limit 
risk through diversification. The policy and adherence to the policy, along with monitoring investment 
performance is reviewed not less than annually by The Finance Committee with retained investment 
consultant. The Finance Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and is currently comprised 
of the following members with the following experience: 

Members of Finance Committee 

• Ed Clingman 
• Marie Pisecki - Chairperson 
• Richard Gibbons 
• Kelsey Beaulieu 
• Richard Adams 
• Patrice Stokes 

Experience 

Attorney & CPA, Bankruptcy Attorney 
Retired Investment Analyst 
Resident, Landscaping 
Financial planner, Morgan Stanley 
Financial Advisor 
Retired COO of St. Paul's Baptist Church 
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As of April I, 2025, Covenant Woods had approximately $31,580,394 in unrestricted reserves, which 
include various financial instruments managed by third-party investment advisors. Additionally, it held 
$3,189,020 in unrestricted cash and certificates of deposit in accounts at Atlantic Union and Truist 
Banks. The total market value of these reserves and cash was $34,769,414. These unrestricted reserve 
funds are maintained to support special programs, projects, or specific capital needs. 

According to the requirements of the Series 2018 Bonds and Series 2022 Bonds, Covenant Woods must 
maintain a Debt Service Reserve Fund equivalent to the maximum annual debt service for these bonds. 
As of April I, 2025, the balance in the 2018 Bond Reserve Fund was $1,681,995, while the balance for 
the 2022 series was $3,798,189. Furthermore, in compliance with Covenant Woods' bond indentures, a 
trustee manages Bond Interest and Bond Principal Funds to cover the semi-annual interest payments 
and annual debt obligations, with balances as of April 1, 2025, of $905,430 and $1,568,324, 
respectively. 

Covenant Woods believes in its ability to operate its facilities effectively and meet all designated debt 
obligations when they come due. 

c. Acq11isitio11 of Goods a11d Services 

Neither the Corporation nor any of its officers or directors have any interest, indirectly or directly in any 
professional services, firm, association, foundation, trust, partnership or corporation or any other business 
or legal entity which is intended to or will or may provide goods, leases or services to the Corporation of 
a value of $500.00 or more within any year. 

D. Crimi11al a11d Civil Proceedi11gs 

Neither the Corporation nor any of its officers or directors: 

( 1) Has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendre to a criminal charge, or been held liable 
or enjoined in a civil action by final judgment where the crime or civil action involved fraud, 
embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, misappropriation of property, or moral turpitude; or 

(2) Is subject to an injunctive or restrictive order of a court of record, or within the past five years 
had any state or federal license or permit suspended or revoked as a result of an action brought by a 
governmental agency or department, arising out of or relating to business activity or healthcare, 
including, without limitation, actions affecting a license to operate a foster care facility, nursing home, 
retirement home, home for the aged or facility registered under Chapter 49, Title 38.2 of the Code of 
Virginia of 1950, as amended, or similar laws in another state; or 

(3) Is currently the subject of any state or federal prosecution, or administrative investigation 
involving allegations of fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, or misappropriation of property. 

OWNERSHIP OF REAL PROPERTY 

The real property on which the Covenant Woods facility is located ( approximately 90 acres on the east 
line State Route 643, Lee-Davis Road, Hanover County, VA) is titled in the name of the Corporation. 
The Economic Development Authority of the County of Hanover has issued, for the benefit of the 
Corporation, Series 2012A bonds, the proceeds of which were used to finance in part the expansion of 
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Covenant Woods and refund the Series 1999 Bonds. Series A of the 2012 Bonds was a fixed rate bond 
issue, issued under a master trust indenture with U.S. Bank for $64,495,000 with final maturity in 2047. 
Series B of the 2012 Bonds was a variable rate bond issue held by First Tennessee Bank under a non­
qualified bank loan for $37,000,000, that was repaid in full in July of 2015. The Corporation's 
obligations to make such payments are secured by a mortgage (deed of trust) on the Covenant Woods 
facility, a security interest in the equipment at such facility, an assignment of leases and rents and a 
security interest in rents and monthly service fees. In July 2018, The Corporation issued $30,200,000 of 
series 2018 bonds, through the County of Hanover, for the refunding of the 2016 bonds held by Union 
Bank & Trust and completion of the Health Care Center expansion. In April of 2022, The Corporation 
issued $54,540,000 of series 2022 bonds, through the County of Hanover, for the call and refunding of 
series 2012 series bonds. 

LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION OF REAL ESTATE 

The Covenant Woods facility is located at 7090 Covenant Woods Drive, Mechanicsville, Virginia 23111 
in Hanover County. 

The Covenant Woods facility consists of a main building of steel frame construction with an exterior of 
brick and vinyl siding. Behind the main building are 43 cottages of style and construction compatible 
with the main building. The architecture and design of the main building and the cottages attempt to 
create a natural residential environment and "campus" setting. The site plan retains as many trees and 
natural features as possible. The property includes a pond with a paved walking trail. 

The 43 cottages are for Independent Living. All consist of 2 bedrooms with 2 full baths. The cottages 
are fully equipped with such amenities as full eat-in kitchens, separate dining areas, emergency alert 
systems, window coverings (blinds), wall-to-wall carpeting, exterior patios, refrigerators, microwaves, 
and dishwashers. 

The main building has a central area and 13 wings. The main building is 2 and 3 stories in height. 
Located in the main building are 188 fully equipped independent living apartments. The apartments are 
of the following configurations: (i) one bedroom, one bath; (ii) one bedroom, den, one and one-half 
baths; and (iii) two bedrooms, two baths. The main building also contains the Assisted Living Center of 
39 private rooms, the Memory Support Assisted Living Center of21 private rooms, and the Health Care 
Center with 62 licensed nursing care beds in all private rooms 

The main building includes an indoor pool, a lobby area, mailboxes, parlor, 2 dining rooms, pub, private 
dining room, game room, conference room, chapel/cultural activity center, bistro, and administrative 
offices. In addition, the main building has a clinic, wellness center, exercise room, therapeutic pool, 
activities area, barber/beauty salon, which includes nail and massage studio, arts and crafts room and 
employee lounge. In various portions of the main building, there are numerous social areas and activity 
spaces. The design of the main building is intended both to provide for the best possible care and to 
create the most pleasant residential environment for the Residents of the Covenant Woods Facility. 

Advance Care LLC and Advance Care Hospice are located and operated from rental office space at 7501 
Boulders View Dr Richmond, VA 23225. The space is under a 5 year lease that started in September 
2021. These companies ceased operations in January 2024, and Covenant Woods assumed the lease on 
the office space. 
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Woodhouse Catering is a catering division operating under The Corporation at 7090 Covenant Woods 
Dr Mechanicsville, VA 23111. 

AFFILIATION WITH RELIGIOUS, CHARITABLE OR OTHER NONPROFIT 
ORGANIZATIONS; TAX STATUS OF PROVIDER 

A. The Corporation is not subject to the control of the United Methodist Church or the Presbyterian 
Church (U.S.A.). Neither church is or will be responsible for the financial and contractual obligations of 
the Corporation. The Corporation, correspondingly, is not and will not be responsible for the financial 
and contractual obligations of either church. 

The Board of Directors currently consists of 15 members, which is also the maximum number of voting 
members permitted. The sitting Chair of the Residents' Council is a non-voting member of the Board 
of Directors. 

B. The Corporation is exempt from the payment of Federal Income Tax under the provisions of 
Section 50l(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

C. As previously discussed, The Corporation is also sole member of Advance Care LLC, a home 
health agency, Advance Care Hospice LLC, a hospice agency, and Parker & Gregg LLC, a holding 
company whose purpose is to help fund strategic initiatives. Advance Care and Advance Care Hospice 
ceased operations in January 2024. 

RESIDENCY AGREEMENTS 

The Corporation currently offers two types of continuing care contracts: ( 1) Lifecare Residency 
Agreement, and (2) Fee For Service. The form of these contracts are attached hereto as Appendix C and 
are collectively referred to herein as the "Residency Agreements." The main difference between the Life 
Care Residency Agreement and the Fee For Service Residency Agreement are the fees payable by the 
resident upon transfer to the Health and Wellness Center. 

In 2020, The Corporation added a rental contract option that is available for only the Primrose/Rowan 1 
bedroom unit. This contract is for one year with renewal option but does not guarantee or imply any 
access to higher levels of care. 

SERVICES PROVIDED UNDER RESIDENCY AGREEMENTS 

Services provided to Residents are listed in Section H of the Residency Agreements in Appendix C. 
Section H.2. lists services available at extra charge. See also Section D.3. in the Residency Agreements 
attached as Appendix C:2 and C:3, with respect to the fees payable by Residents under such agreements 
with respect to healthcare. 
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FEES REQUIRED OF RESIDENTS 

A. Residency Agreements 
An Entrance Fee is charged as more particularly set forth in Section D. l of the Residency Agreements. 
Deposits received prior to the date a resident may take possession are placed in a bank escrow account 
in accordance with Va. Code 38.2-4904.1. See Sections D and G of the Residency Agreements for more 
information concerning Entrance Fees, including refunds of Entrance Fees. 

The Entrance Fees for admission to the Covenant Woods facility are shown on the following pages. 
Entrance Fees are expected to increase from time to time. An Administrative Fee equal to 8% of the 
Entrance Fee is assessed against the Entrance Fee. As set forth in Section G of the Agreement, the full 
amount of the Entrance Fee, including the Administrative Fee, is refunded when required prior to the 
Occupancy Date of a Resident. The Administrative Fee is not subject to refund after the Occupancy Date 
of a Resident as set forth in Section G.4 of the of the Residency Agreement. 

Residents must pay a Monthly Service Fee, the amount of which is dependent upon the living unit or 
residence selected. See Sections D.2 and G of the Residency Agreements for other information 
concerning Monthly Service Fees, including refunds of Monthly Service Fees. 

The Corporation reserves the right to increase Monthly Fees periodically so as to cause the fees from 
time to time to reflect increases in the cost of care as more particularly set forth in Section D.2.e of the 
Residency Agreements. However, there are no limitations on the amount, or frequency, of increases in 
the Monthly Service Fees. The corporation is required, legally and contractually, to provide at least 30-
days' notice of any increase in fees. Charges for care paid in one lump sum shall not be increased or 
changed during the duration of the agreed upon care, except for changes required by state or federal 
assistance programs. 

Residents under the Fee For Service Agreements pay a Daily Fee for care in the Assisted Living Center, 
the Memory Support Center and the Nursing Facility. See Section D.3 in the Residency Agreement 
attached as Appendix C:2. The Daily Fee is subject to adjustment from time to time. 

Rates are reviewed annually by the Finance Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. 
Increases generally are based on cost of operational expense increases. The charts that follow show the 
periodic increases of Monthly Service Fees and Daily Fees. 

Residents may reserve their living units by making a deposit equal to ten percent (10%) of the Entrance 
Fee applicable to their respective Living Units at the time of application as ·more particularly set forth in 
Section D. l .b of the Residency Agreements. The balance of the Entrance Fee is due prior to Residents 
moving in to their Living Units. 

For information regarding costs associated with the transfer by a Resident to another Living Unit within 
the facility, refer to Sections J and N. l. of the Residency Agreements. For information regarding 
potential costs in the event a Resident marries a non-Resident and the spouse desires accommodation at 
the Covenant Woods facility, refer to Section N of the Residency Agreements. 

Residents are required to carry Medicare Insurance Parts A and B and a Medicare Supplement, or the 
equivalent of such coverages, as provided in Section H.7 or H.5 of the applicable Residency Agreement. 
Residents are encouraged to maintain insurance coverage on their personal property, as provided in 
Section R. l of the Residency Agreements. 
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Covenant Woods - Current Entrance Fees by Contact Type (Effective April 1, 2025) 

50% Guaranteed 90% Guaranteed 
Declining Balance Refund (Full Life Refund (Full Life 

<Full Life Care) Care) Care) Fee for Service 
A)!artments (The 
Manor) 
Rowan/Prim rose/Bayberr 
y 291,500 408,100 539,275 233,200 
Hawthorn 372,712 521,797 689,517 298,169 
Laurel 416,566 583,193 770,647 333,253 
Laurel Deluxe 459,737 643,632 850,515 367,789 
Aster 428,306 599,628 792,365 342,645 
Camellia 491,927 688,697 910,064 393,542 
Cypress 499,500 699,301 924,076 399,600 
Holly 498,743 698,240 922,675 398,994 
Holly II 498,743 698,240 922,675 398,994 
Willow 504,424 706,193 933,184 403,539 
A)!artments (The Lodge) 
Iris 385,627 539,878 713,411 308,502 
Azalea 465,796 652,115 861,724 372,637 
Violet 505,938 708,314 935,986 404,751 
Sage 564,101 789,741 1,043,585 451,281 
Wisteria 610,401 854,563 I, 129,242 488,321 
Heather 615,382 861,534 I, 139,556 492,305 
Hyacinth 621,842 870,579 1,150,408 497,474 
Garden Hyacinth 569,938 797,914 1,054,385 455,950 
Cottages 
Bartlett 584,434 818,209 1,081,204 467,547 
Cortland 630,105 882,148 1,165,695 504,085 
York 681,969 954,757 1,260,543 545,576 
Magnolia 746,655 1,045,316 1,381,3 I I 656,723 
Mulberry 588,305 823,627 1,088,364 470,644 
Spruce 661,844 926,581 1,224,410 529,474 
Poplar 690,872 967,220 1,278,112 612,097 
Hickory 717,965 1,005,150 1,328,234 633,772 

Second Person Entrance 
Fee 99,600 136,800 189,600 64,800 
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Covenant Woods Monthly Fee Rate History 

Fee For 
Lifecare nlracts Service 

Effecli ve -
4/ 1/70? I 4/1 /?0?? 4/l /2023 4/ 1/20?4 -+1117 0?5 4/1 /? 075 

AQartments (The 
Manor) -
Bayberry 3,6--15 3,790 4,046 -+ .289 --1 .525 3,102 

Prim rose/Rowan 3. 137 3,790 4.046 4.289 4.525 3.202 

Hawthorn 4,044 4,206 4.490 4,759 5,02 1 3,765 

Laurel 4,562 4.745 5,065 5,369 5,664 4,248 

Laurel Deluxe 4,8-+2 5,036 5,376 5,699 6.0 12 4.509 

A ter -+,5 I 0 4.691 5.007 5.307 5.599 4.200 

Camell ia -+ .973 5.1 72 5.521 5.852 6. 17-+ -+ .630 

Cypress 5.0-+9 5.25 1 5.606 5.9-+2 6.269 --1 ,702 

Holly 5,0-+2 5,244 5.598 5.93--1 6.260 4,695 

Holly II 5,042 5,244 5.598 5,934 6,260 4,695 

Willow 5,099 5,3 03 5,66 1 6,001 6,33 1 4.749 

AQartments (The Lodge) 

Iris -+ .263 4.43-+ -+, 733 5.01 7 5.293 3.970 

Azaelea --1.906 5. 102 5.-+--16 5.773 6.09 1 -+.568 
Vio let 5.328 5.5-+ I 5.915 6.270 6.615 4.962 

Sage 5,83 1 6.064 6.-+7-+ 6.862 7,239 5,430 

Wi steria 6,056 6,299 6,724 7, 127 7.519 5.639 

Heather 6.22 1 6 470 6,907 7,32 1 7.724 5,793 

Hyac inth 6.355 6.610 7.056 7,479 7.890 5.9 17 

Garden Hyacinth 5.20 I 5.410 5.775 6.122 6.--159 4.8--15 

Cottages 

*Bradford 5,6-+ 7 5.8 73 6.269 6,6-+5 7.0 10 

*Bradford Expanded 5,809 6,04 1 6,4-+9 6.836 7.2 12 

*Bradford Deluxe 5,903 6, 139 6,553 6,946 7,328 

Bartlett 4.881 5.077 5,419 5.744 6.060 4,545 

Cortland 5.263 5.-+ 74 5,8-+3 6.1 9-+ 6.535 4.902 

York 5.696 5.924 6.32-+ 6,703 7.072 5.303 

Magno lia 6.-+23 6,680 7.13 1 7.559 7.975 5.981 

Mu lberry -+.914 5.1 1 l 5.-+56 5.783 6.1 01 4.576 

Spruce 5,528 5,749 6.137 6,505 6,863 5,147 

Poplar 5.770 6.001 6.406 6.790 7. 163 5,3 73 

Hickory 5.997 6.237 6.658 7.057 7 .-+-+5 5.5 8-+ 

Second Person Monthly Fee 1.650 1,725 1.8--10 1,950 2.057 2.057 
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Covenant Woods Monthlv Fee Rate History 

Fee For 
Lifecare Contracts Service 

Effective 

Health & Wellness Per Diem 4/1/2021 4/1/2022 4/1/2023 4/1/2024 4/1/2025 4/1/2025 
Assisted Living 229 236 236 247 253 253 
Memory Support 278 287 287 287 294 294 
Nursing - Private 365 376 376 402 412 412 
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SERVICE FEES 
Effective April 1, 2025 

Various Services 
Dry Cleaning, Movie Tickets, Stamps 
Facility Work Order Request 
Internal Move to a New Unit 
Housekeeping (additional) 
Comforters/Oversized Bedding Laundry 
IT Work Order Request for non-covered services 
Key I FOB I Door Badge Replacement 
Windshield Reader Replacement 
Name Badge Replacement 
SARA Tag - New/Replacement 
CA TIE Tablet Replacement 
CA TIE Tablet Magnetic Case 
CA TIE Tablet Charging Base 
Package Delivery/ Daily Package Holding Fee 
Bounced check or auto draft 
Billing Statement for Tax Purposes 
Notary Services 
Photocopies & Faxes (B/W & Color) 
Laundry (Assisted Living) 
CW Telephone 
CW Telephone wNoice Mail 
Clinic Services 
Fitness/Personal Training Sessions 
Transportation Services 

Prices located at Front Desk + Admin Fee 
Varies based on hours and materials 
$50 I Hour / Staff Member 
$25 I Hour 
$35.00 I per item 
$50 I Hour, billed in 15-minute increments 
$15 (including family visitor badge) 
$15 
$30 
$175 
$500 
$130 
$175 
$5.00 I per item 
$30 per occurrence 
$ 1 0 / per copy 
$10 I per document notarized 
$0.20 I B&W page $0.75/color page 
$65 per resident I month 
$15 per room I month 
$20 per room / month 
Charge list posted in clinic and CATIE 
Charge list posted in health club and CA TIE 
Charge list posted in CA TIE 

Meal Credit Plan (Independent living only for contracts dating before July 2012): 
Additional 15 meals $90 (15 meals) and $180 (30 meals) 
Meal Delivery in Independent Living $5 per entree 

Health & Wellness Meals (as per contract): 
Health & Wellness meal charge 
Health & Wellness meal charge (temp stay) 

Guest Meals in Manor East: 

Breakfast 
Lunch & Dinner 

Guest Room 

$450 I Per Month 
$15 I Per Day 

Adults 
$12.50 
$13 

Children (12 & under) 
$6.00 
$6.00 

$200/night Sunday-Thursday 
$250/night Friday, Saturday, and Holidays 
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AUDITED Financial Statements 

Attached as Appendix A are audited Financial Statements of the Corporation including the 
balance sheets, statements of operations, and changes in unrestricted net assets and statement of 
cash flows for the two most recent fiscal years. 

Pro forma Income Statements 

Attached as Appendix B is a Pro Forma Income Statement for the year ending March 31, 2025. 
The statement conforms to generally accepted accounting principles and includes specific 
descriptions of the major assumptions used in developing these pro forma statements. 

Admission of New Residents 

A minimum age of 62 is required at the time of application. In the case of Joint Residents, with 
administrative approval, only one must meet the minimum age requirement. Applicants must 
also demonstrate the ability to meet the cost of care. 

Please refer to the Residency Agreements, specifically the Premise and Section A, for additional 
admission requirements and procedures. 

The Covenant Woods Priority Program is designed for those who want to secure their place in 
line for future residency. The program includes two options: ( I )The Premier Priority List for 
those planning to move within the next two (2) years. This option requires a fully refundable 
$10,000 deposit and offers the highest level of priority for available residences, and (2) The 
Standard Priority List for those not ready to move in the immediate future but who want to plan 
ahead. This option requires a fully refundable $1,000 deposit. Both options offer a position on 
the waiting list to secure your future at Covenant Woods. With respect to planned, but not 
completed new units, additional refundable escrow deposits may be required during the 
construction process. No interest is paid or credited to the depositor for money held in escrow or 
by Covenant Woods. The portion of the deposit held in escrow will be refunded within thirty 
(30) days after receiving a written request for a refund at any time prior to the Effective 
Occupancy Date. 

Access to Community and Services by Non-Residents 

Guests of Residents do not receive the benefit of services afforded Residents. However, 
arrangements may be made to accommodate overnight guests in two guest rooms. 

Direct entry into the Assisted Living Center, the Memory Support Center and the Nursing 
Facility is permitted in some circumstances depending on anticipated needs for Residents of the 
Covenant Woods Facility as determined from time to time by the Corporation. 

Procedure by Which a Resident May File a Complaint or Disclose Any Concern 

A Resident may file a complaint or disclose any concern, in writing, as follows: 
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I) The complaint or concern should first be submitted in writing to the appropriate 
Department Head who will provide a written response within 15 days. 

2) In the event the Resident's complaint or concern is not resolved to the Resident's 
satisfaction by the Department Head within such 15 day period, the Resident may submit the 
complaint or concern to the Administrator who will provide a written response within 15 days. 
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To the Board of Directors of 
Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 

Opinion 

<t bakertilly 

Independent Auditors' Report 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
(the Organization), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2025 and 2024, and 
the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Organization as of March 31, 2025 and 2024, and the results of its 
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are required 
to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Organization's ability 
to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be 
issued. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

Baker Tilly Advisory Group, LP and Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, are members of the global network of Baker Tilly 
International Ltd., the members of which are separate and independent legal entities. Baker Tilly US, LLP is a licensed CPA firm that 
provides assurance services to its clients. Baker Tilly Advisory Group, LP and its subsidiary entities provide tax and consulting services 
to their clients and are not licensed CPA firms. 



In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organization's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Organization's ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole. The consolidating information as identified in the table of contents is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the financial position, 
results of operations and changes in net assets of the individual organizations, and it is not a required part of 
the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our 
opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole. 

McLean, Virgina 
July 25, 2025 
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Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
March 31, 2025 and 2024 

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Assets 

Resident and patient accounts receivables, net 
Entrance fees receivable 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
Current assets from discontinued operations 

Total current assets 

Investments 

Assets Whose Use is Limited 
Restricted under perpetual donor restrictions 
Restricted under purpose donor restrictions 
Bond trustee funds and other 

Total assets whose use is limited 

Property and Equipment, Net 

Other Assets 

Long-Term Assets From Discontinued Operations 

Total assets 

Liabilities and Net Assets 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable 
Accrued salaries and benefits 
Interest payable 
Refundable deposits 
Current portion of long-term debt 
Other current liabilities 
Current liabilities from discontinued operations 

Total current liabilities 

Long-Term Liabilities 
Long-term debt, net of current portion 
Refundable entrance fees 
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 
Long-term liabilities from discontinued operations 

Total long-term liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Net Assets 
Without donor restrictions 
With donor restrictions 

Total net assets 

Total liabilities and net assets 

See notes to consolidated financial statements 
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2025 

$ 3,236,814 
430,069 

1,468,473 
272,101 

39,314 

5,446,771 

31,903,248 

1,496,771 
3,064,821 
7,957,439 

12,519,031 

101,046,286 

583,721 

220,069 

$ 151,719,126 

$ 463,925 
1,276,040 

893,025 
698,035 

1,670,000 
738,301 
168,772 

5,908,098 

82,446,085 
2,644,399 

58,053,673 
89,275 

143,233,432 

149,141,530 

(1,983,996) 
4,561,592 

2,577,596 

$ 151,719,126 

2024 

$ 2,186,477 
426,034 

397,923 
115,144 

3,125,578 

28,699,295 

1,511,649 
2,493,177 
7,914,827 

11,919,653 

104,569,712 

464,234 

345,414 

$ 149,123,886 

$ 569,502 
1,151,332 

908,924 
626,565 

1,610,000 
531,879 
229,014 

5,627,216 

84,283,794 
2,656,043 

53,920,658 
231,615 

141,092,110 

146,719,326 

(2,012,227) 
4,416,787 

2,404,560 

$ 149,123,886 



Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 
Years Ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 

Revenues, Gains and Other Support 
Resident services, net $ 
Amortization of entrance fees 
Gifts and donations 
Interest and dividend income 
Net realized losses on sales of investments 
Net assets released from restrictions, operations 
Other 

Total revenues, gains and other support 

Operating Expenses 
Residential 
Dietary 
Plant operations 
Housekeeping and laundry 
Social services and activities 
Marketing and advertising 
General and administrative 
Depreciation and amortization 
Interest, net of amortization of deferred financing costs, 
bond premium and capitalized interest 

Interest attributable to amortization of deferred financing costs, 
bond premium and capitalized interest, net 

Fund raising 
Other 

Total operating expenses 

Operating loss from continuing operations 

Nonoperating Income (Loss) 
Unrealized gains on investments 
Loss on disposal of assets 

Total nonoperating income from continuing operations 

Revenues, gains and other support in excess of 
expenses from continuing operations 

Loss From Discontinued Operations (Note 3) 

Change in net assets without donor restrictions $ 

See notes to consolidated financial statements 
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2025 2024 

26,767,884 $ 24,533,140 
8,257,623 7,791,947 

245,847 237,480 
1,491,222 1,840,615 
(290,597) (194,281) 
120,428 140,749 

1,701,791 1,578,116 

38,294,198 35,927,766 

7,352,923 7,081,521 
5,939,552 5,605,054 
3,950,649 3,878,678 
1,496,026 1,438,961 
2,306,010 2,023,386 
1,017,405 1,028,917 
5,887,274 5,607,342 
6,393,331 6,315,364 

3,699,007 3,737,792 

44,831 34,796 
169,583 157,127 
136,981 223,942 

38,393,572 37,132,880 

(99,374) (1,205,114) 

404,923 3,432,785 
(86,596) (191,788) 

318,327 3,240,997 

218,953 2,035,883 

(190,722) (5,882,234) 

28,231 (3,846,351) 



Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets 
Years Ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 
Revenues, gains and other support in excess of 

expenses from continuing operations $ 
Loss from discontinued operations 

Change in net assets without donor restrictions 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions, Purpose 
Contributions 
Interest income and dividends 
Net realized gains (losses) 
Net unrealized gains 
Releases from restrictions 

Change in net assets with donor restrictions, purpose 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions, Perpetual 
Change in fair value of perpetual trusts 

Change in net assets with donor restrictions 

Change in net assets 

Net Assets, Beginning 

Net Assets, Ending $ 

See notes to consolidated financial statements 
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2025 2024 

218,953 $ 2,035,883 
{190,722) {5,882,234) 

28,231 (3,846,351) 

39,123 51,817 
103,063 94,187 

1,610 (3,073) 
136,315 173,365 

(120,428) (140,749) 

159,683 175,547 

(14,878) 146,282 

144,805 321,829 

173,036 (3,524,522) 

2,404,560 5,929,082 

2,577,596 $ 2,404,560 



Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years Ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 

2025 2024 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities 
Change in net assets $ 173,036 $ (3,524,522) 
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net 

cash provided by operating activities: 
Loss on disposal of assets 86,596 247,567 
Amortization of deferred revenue from entrance fees (8,257,623) (7,791,947) 
Proceeds from entrance fees 11,140,051 10,238,900 
Depreciation and amortization 6,393,331 6,420,221 
Amortization of deferred financing costs 117,423 128,155 
Net realized and unrealized gains on investments (252,251) (3,408,796) 
Change in fair value of perpetual trusts 14,878 (146,282) 
Amortization of capitalized interest 212,540 212,540 
Amortization of bond premium costs (285,132) (305,900) 
Amortization of goodwill 164,604 
Loss from discontinued operations, noncash 1,319,521 
Net change in: 

Resident and patient accounts receivables, net (4,035) 1,229,862 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 97,000 101,036 
Other assets (119,487) 8,074 
Accounts payable (105,577) 56,964 
Accrued salaries and benefits 124,708 (102,635) 
Interest payable (15,899) (1,921) 
Unearned revenue (93,177) 
Refundable deposits 71,470 (244,042) 
Other liabilities 49,342 (75,023) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 9,440,371 4,433,199 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities 
Purchases of property and equipment (3,043,696) (2,418,911) 

Net purchases of investments and assets whose use is limited (3,565,958) (1 ,108,508) 

Net cash used in investing activities (6,609,654) (3,527,419) 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities 
Principal payments on long-term debt (1,610,000) (210,000) 
Refunds to residents (275,032) (615,824) 

Net cash used in financing activities (1 ,885,032) (825,824) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 945,685 79,956 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning 2,301 ,621 2,221,665 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Ending, Including $10,492 and $115,144 
as of March 31, 2025 and 2024, Respectively, Reported Within 
Discontinued Operations $ 3,247,306 $ 2,301,621 

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flows lnfonnation 
Cash paid for interest $ 3,714,906 $ 3,746,716 

See notes to consolidated financial statements 
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Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
March 31, 2025 and 2024 

1. Organization 

Covenant Woods is a not-for-profit corporation founded by the Presbyterian and Methodist churches in 
1883. Covenant Woods provides housing, healthcare and other related services to residents through the 
operation of its continuing care retirement community, which currently sits on 90 acres in Hanover 
County, Virginia. Covenant Woods seeks to provide continuing care, in accordance with the terms of 
governmental licenses and restrictions, to the extent of its resources and facilities, which currently 
includes 231 independent living units, 39 assisted living units, 21 memory care units and 62 licensed 
skilled nursing beds. 

Parker & Gregg, LLC (Parker & Gregg), a wholly owned subsidiary of Covenant Woods, helps aid in the 
development and implementation of future strategic initiatives of Covenant Woods. 

Advance Care, LLC (Advance Care), a wholly owned subsidiary of Covenant Woods, was a home health 
and related services provider in Richmond, Virginia. Advance Care Hospice, LLC (Advance Care 
Hospice), a wholly owned subsidiary of Covenant Woods, was a hospice services provider to the local 
community. Both Advance Care and Advance Care Hospice ceased operations on January 5, 2024 and 
have been reported as discontinued operations as further discussed in Note 3. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Covenant Woods, Parker & Gregg, 
Advance Care and Advance Care Hospice (collectively, the Organization). All significant 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents, cash 
equivalents include investments purchased with an initial maturity of three months or less. 
The Organization maintains its cash and cash equivalents at various financial institutions. 
The Organization has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is 
exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents which may at times, exceed 
federally insured limits. 

Resident and Patient Accounts Receivable 

The Organization assesses collectability on all resident and patient accounts prior to providing 
services. An allowance for expected credit losses is recognized to reduce accounts receivable to its 
net realizable value for impairment of revenues for changes in resident and patient credit worthiness. 
The allowance is estimated by management during periodic review of individual accounts and 
historical experience. Accounts are written off through expected credit loss expense when the 
Organization has exhausted all collection efforts and accounts are deemed impaired. The allowance 
for expected credit losses was approximately $25,000 and $119,000 at March 31, 2025 and 2024 
respectively. 
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Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
March 31, 2025 and 2024 

Investments and Investment Risk 

The Organization's investments are comprised of a variety of financial instruments and are managed 
by third-party investment advisors. The fair values reported in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets are subject to various risks, including changes in the equity markets, the interest rate 
environment and general economic conditions. Due to the level of risk associated with certain 
investment securities and the level of uncertainty related to changes in the fair value of investment 
securities, it is reasonably possible that the amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets 
could change materially in the near term. 

Investments in money market funds, mutual funds, equity securities and debt and obligation securities 
with readily determinable fair values are measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets 
and are determined based upon quoted market prices. Investments in hedge funds and perpetual 
trusts are determined using underlying assumptions developed by the Organization in determining fair 
value. Contributions of investments are stated at the fair market value at the date of receipt. 

Investment income or loss (including net realized gains and losses on investments, interest and 
dividend income) and net unrealized gains and losses on investments are included in the 
determination of revenues, gains and other support in excess of expenses from continuing operations 
unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law. Dividends are measured based on the 
ex-dividend date. Purchases and sales of securities and realized gains and losses are recorded on a 
trade-date basis. 

Assets Whose Use is Limited 

Included in assets whose use is limited is the Organization's funds restricted under perpetual donor 
restrictions, restricted under purpose donor restrictions and assets held by a trustee under bond 
indenture agreements. 

Restricted under perpetual donor restrictions - Assets whose use is limited which are externally 
restricted under perpetual donor restriction are administered by independent trustees and generally 
consist of cash and cash equivalents, mutual funds and debt and equity securities, which are carried 
at fair value. Under the terms of the trusts, the donors have established and funded the trusts with 
specified distributions to be made to the Organization in perpetuity. Because the trusts are perpetual, 
these funds are reported as perpetually restricted net assets. Income distributions from these trusts 
are recorded as interest and dividend income in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations, while any appreciation (depreciation) in the trust value is recorded as a change in 
perpetually restricted net assets with donor restrictions, in accordance with donor restrictions. 

Restricted under purpose donor restrictions - Assets whose use is limited which are externally 
restricted for purpose donor restriction generally consist of cash and cash equivalents, limited 
partnerships, corporate bonds and debt and equity securities, which are carried at fair value. Under 
the terms of the trust, the donor has established that the funds be reported as net assets with donor 
restrictions, where the income and principal, if need be, is used to provide financial assistance to 
residents in need. These funds are not to be considered as a source for capital improvements for the 
Organization. Income distributions from this trust are recorded as interest and dividend income in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations, while any appreciation (depreciation) in the 
trust value is recorded as a change in purpose restricted net assets with donor restrictions. 

Bond trustee funds - Assets whose use is limited which are externally assets held by a trustee under 
bond indenture agreements generally consist of cash and cash equivalents. The bond trustee funds, 
as reported on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, includes $5,480,185 and $5,761,821 
as of March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, in the Organization's debt service reserve fund. The 
remaining amounts are primarily associated with the Organization's principal and interest reserve 
funds. 
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Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
March 31, 2025 and 2024 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment, including construction in progress, is recorded at cost. Depreciation is 
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The general 
range of estimated useful lives is 1 O years to 40 years for land improvements, buildings, and buildings 
improvements, 7 years to 10 years for furniture and equipment, 5 years to 1 O years for vehicles and 
3 years to 5 years for computer equipment and software. 

Property and equipment are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable from the estimated future cash flows 
expected to result from its use and eventual disposition. If the expected cash flows are less than the 
carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to an amount by which the carrying value 
exceed the fair value of the assets. There were no impairment losses in 2025 or 2024. 

Deferred Financing Costs 

Financing costs incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and amortized as a 
component of interest expense over the term of the related indebtedness on a straight-line basis, 
which approximates the effective interest method. These costs are shown as a direct deduction from 
the face amount of the related borrowings. 

Deferred Revenue From Entrance Fees and Refundable Entrance Fees 

Deferred revenue from entrance fees represents the nonrefundable fees received at the time a 
resident is admitted to the community. Nonrefundable entrance fees are amortized over the 
estimated life expectancy of the individual resident, or couple, and adjusted annually depending on 
the type of contract. Upon the death of a sole surviving resident, any remaining unamortized portion of 
the nonrefundable entrance fee is recognized as operating revenue. No amortization is recorded on 
the refundable portion of entrance fees. 

Under the residency agreement, a reservation fee of 10% of the entrance fee may be required with 
each reservation. The reservation fee is refundable in full if, before the occupancy date, (i) a written 
request is received from the applicant, (ii) the applicant is not admitted, or (iii) the applicant dies 
before the date of closing. Upon occupancy, reservation fees are reclassified as deferred revenue 
from entrance fees. 

The Organization provides the following resident agreements: 

The Declining Refund is a refundable lifecare contract. This contract provides for assisted living 
and nursing care at no additional charge. For contracts signed before July 2013, the refund for 
the death of a resident is reduced by 2% each month of occupancy for 12 months. Beginning with 
month 13, the refund will be zero upon the death of the resident. For contracts signed July 2013 
and thereafter, after deducting the administrative fee, the refund for death or withdrawal is 
reduced by 2% for each month of occupancy until zero. The refund will be made upon 
reoccupancy of the vacated unit or 12 months, whichever occurs first, following the date of 
termination. 

The 90% Guaranteed Refund is a refundable lifecare contract. This contract has the same health 
care provisions as the declining refund contract. After deducting the_ administrative fee, the refund 
for death or withdrawal is reduced by 2% for each month of occupancy until 90%, where it 
remains thereafter. The refund will be made upon reoccupancy of the vacated unit or 12 months, 
whichever occurs first, following the date of termination. 
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Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
March 31, 2025 and 2024 

The 50% Guaranteed Refund is a refundable lifecare contract. This contract has the same health 
care provisions as the declining refund contract. After deducting the administrative fee, the refund 
for death or withdrawal is reduced by 2% for each month of occupancy until 50%, where it 
remains thereafter. The refund will be made upon reoccupancy of the vacated unit or 12 months, 
whichever occurs first, following the date of termination. 

The Per Diem Health Care contract is a refundable lifecare contract. This contract has the same 
health care provisions as the declining refund contract, with the exception that the monthly fees in 
health care convert to the going market rate for those services. In addition, for all contracts signed 
before September 2014, the contract requires that the resident maintain a long-term care 
insurance policy. The refund provisions are the same as the Declining Refund contract. These 
contracts are no longer offered as of April 2024. 

The Fee for Services contract was created in March 2024 and is a refundable lifecare contract. 
This contract has the same health care provisions as the declining refund contract, with the 
exception that the monthly fees in health care convert to the going market rate for those services, 
and the entrance fee and monthly fees in Independent Living are lower than the standard lifecare 
contract. The refund provisions are the same as the Declining Refund contract. 

The Direct Admit to Healthcare contract is a nonrefundable contract. This provides for health care 
at the agreed upon level of care at the time of contract execution and does not guarantee the 
resident the right to transition to a higher level of care. The resident does not pay a direct 
admittance fee upon admission; however, the resident pays the going market rate for services 
provided. 

The Rental contract is a rental option where the resident pays a monthly service fee for a 
residential unit. The contract includes access to amenities and certain services. 

Entrance fees received from prospective residents of the Organization prior to admission are subject 
to the refund provisions of residents' agreements. Resident agreements include a 4% administrative 
fee (which reduces the refundable portion) and is recorded as income upon move-in. At March 31, 
2025 and 2024, there were approximately $23,744,000 and $20,022,000, respectively, of entrance 
fees subject to refund provisions, none of which are considered current liabilities. 

Obligation to Provide Future Services 

The Organization annually calculates the present value of the net cost of future services and use of 
facilities to be provided to current residents and compares that amount with the balance of deferred 
revenue from entrance fees. If the present value of the net cost of future services and use of facilities 
exceeds the deferred revenue from entrance fees, a liability is recorded (estimated obligation to 
provide future services). No liability has been recorded as of March 31, 2025 and 2024 as the present 
value of the estimated net costs of future services and use of facilities is less than deferred revenues 
from entrance fees. 

Contributed Support 

The Organization's policy is to provide residential services and nursing care to certain residents 
for which full payment is not anticipated. As part of the conversion to the larger continuing care 
retirement community, the Central Virginia Health Planning Agency (CVHPA) allowed the 
Organization to relocate and maintain the 22 nursing home beds without restrictions. In exchange, 
the Organization must provide an assistance subsidy of at least $230,000 annually. As of March 31, 
2025, the Organization has remained in compliance. 
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The Organization has estimated its direct and indirect costs of providing support under its assistance 
subsidy policy. In order to estimate the cost of providing such care, management calculated a 
cost-to-charge ratio by comparing the total operating costs to total operating revenue. The 
cost-to-charge ratio is applied to the charges foregone to calculate the estimated direct and indirect 
cost of providing support. Using this methodology, the Organization has estimated the costs for 
services under the Organization's assistance policy to be approximately $545,000 and $434,000 for 
the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

The Organization received approximately $119,000 and $226,000 to subsidize the costs of providing 
support under its assistance subsidy policy for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, 
respectively. 

Net Assets 

Net assets, revenues, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor 
imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified and reported as 
follows: 

Net Assets Without Donor Restriction - net assets available for use in general operations 
and not subject to donor restrictions. All revenue not restricted by donors and donor restricted 
contributions whose restrictions are met in the same period in which they are received are 
accounted for in net assets without donor restriction. 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions - net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions. Some 
donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage 
of time or other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual 
in nature, where the donor stipulates those resources be maintained in perpetuity. All revenues 
restricted by donors as to either timing or purpose of the related expenditures or required to be 
maintained in perpetuity as a source of investment income are accounted for in net assets with 
donor restrictions. When a donor restriction expires, that is when a stipulated time restriction 
ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified 
to net assets without donor restrictions. 

Resident Service Revenues 

Resident service revenues are reported at the amount that reflects the consideration the Organization 
expects to receive in exchange for the services provided. These amounts are due from residents or 
third-party payers and include variable consideration for retroactive adjustments, if any, under 
reimbursement programs. Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the 
services provided. Net resident service revenues are recognized as performance obligations are 
satisfied. 

Resident service revenues are primarily comprised of skilled nursing, assisted living, independent 
living and other resident service streams, which are primarily derived from providing housing, skilled 
nursing, personal care and other services to residents at a stated daily or monthly fee, net of any 
explicit or implicit price concessions. The Organization has determined that the services included in 
the stated daily or monthly fee for each level of care represents a series of distinct services that have 
the same timing and pattern of transfer. Therefore, the Organization considers the services provided 
to residents in each level of care to be one performance obligation which is satisfied over time as 
services are provided. As such, skilled nursing, assisted living, independent living and other resident 
services are recognized on a daily or month-to-month basis as services are rendered. 
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Revenues collected from residents in advance are recognized as deferred revenue from entrance 
fees until the performance obligations are satisfied and are included in deferred revenues from 
entrance fees in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. In 2025 and 2024, the Organization 
recognized approximately $7,679,000 and $7,402,000, respectively, of revenue that was included in 
the deferred revenue from entrance fees balance as of April 1, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
Organization applies the practical expedient in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) No. 606, 
and therefore, does not disclose amounts for remaining performance obligations that have original 
expected durations of one year or less. 

The Organization receives revenues for services under third-party payer programs, including 
Medicare and other third-party payers. Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive adjustments 
due to audits, reviews or investigations are included in the determination of the estimated transaction 
price for providing services. The Organization estimates the transaction price based on the terms of 
the contract and correspondence with the third-party payer and historical payment trends and 
retroactive adjustments are recognized in future periods as final settlements are determined. 

Contract Balances 

Contract assets represent the Covenant Woods' right to consideration in exchange for goods or 
services that Covenant Woods has transferred to a resident when that right is conditioned on 
something other than the passage of time (i.e. future performance). Contract liabilities represent 
Covenant Woods' obligation to transfer goods or services to a resident for which Covenant Woods 
has received consideration (or the amount is due) from the resident. 

Covenant Woods' beginning and ending contract assets and liabilities are separately presented on 
the balance sheets as of March 31, 2025 and 2024. Contracts assets and liabilities as of March 31, 
2023 are as follows: 

Resident and patient accounts receivables, net 

Deferred revenue from entrance fees 

Performance Indicator 

$ 1,655,896 

52,767,902 

The consolidated statements of operations include a performance indicator labeled revenues, gains 
and other support in excess of expenses from continuing operations. Changes in net assets without 
donor restrictions which are excluded from revenues, gains and other support in excess of expenses, 
consistent with industry practice, generally include net assets released from restrictions for capital 
purchases, contributions of long-lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by 
donor restriction were to be used for the purposes of acquiring such assets), if any, and loss from 
discontinued operations. 

Income Taxes 

Covenant Woods is a tax-exempt organization as defined in Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code and is exempt from income taxes on related activities pursuant to Section 509(a). 
Parker & Gregg, Advance Care and Advance Care Hospice are organized as limited liability 
companies. As such, Parker & Gregg, Advance Care and Advance Care Hospice are considered 
disregarded entities for tax purposes. 

Income tax returns of Covenant Woods are subject to review and examination by federal and state 
authorities. Management is not aware of any activities that would jeopardize its tax-exempt status or 
any activities that are subject to tax on unrelated business income, excise or other taxes for Covenant 
Woods. 
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Covenant Woods follows the income tax standard for uncertain tax positions. This standard clarifies 
the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an organization's consolidated financial 
statements. This standard prescribes recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or 
expected to be taken on a tax return that are not certain to be realized. This standard had no material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024. 

Reclassifications 

Certain amounts in the 2024 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to 
the 2025 presentation, with no effect on the previously reported net assets or change in net assets. 

Subsequent Events 

The Organization evaluated the effect subsequent events would have on the consolidated financial 
statements through July 25, 2025, which is the date the consolidated financial statements were 
available to be issued. 

3. Discontinued Operations 

In December 2023, Covenant Woods made the decision to abandon the operations of Advance Care and 
Advance Care Hospice, and on January 5, 2024, suspended providing all services to the community and 
began the process to wind up the affairs of the entities. The operations of Advance Care and Advance 
Care Hospice have been reported as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements, as 
the Organization has determined, as defined under ASC No. 205-20, Presentation of Financial 
Statements-Discontinued Operations, that Advance Care and Advance Care Hospice (i) are 
components that have financial operations and cash flows which are clearly distinguishable, 
(ii) operations have ceased and qualify as a disposal other than by sale and (iii) the disposal represents 
a strategic shift. 

The following is a reconciliation of the carrying amounts of major classes of assets and liabilities of 
Advance Care and Advance Care Hospice that are presented in the consolidated balance sheets as 
discontinued operations: 

2025 2024 

Carrying amounts of major classes of assets included as part 
of discontinued operations: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,492 $ 115,144 
Prepaid and other current assets 28,822 
Property, plant and equipment 220,069 345,414 

Total assets of the disposal group classified as 
discontinued operations $ 259,383 $ 460,558 

The following is a reconciliation of the major lines of income and expense amounts of Advance Care and 
Advance Care Hospice that are presented in the consolidated statements of operations as discontinued 
operations: 

Carrying amounts of major classes of liabilities included as 
part of discontinued operations: 

Other current liabilities 
Other long-term liabilities 

Total liabilities of the disposal group classified as 
discontinued operations 
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2025 

168,772 
89,275 
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$ 
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The following is a reconciliation of the major lines of income and expense amounts of Advance Care and 
Advance Care Hospice that are presented in the consolidated statements of operations as discontinued 
operations: 

Significant line items constituting loss on discontinued operations 
Revenues: 

Home health and hospice service revenues 
Other revenue 

Operating expenses: 
Home health and hospice service operating expenses 
Social services and activities 
Marketing and advertising 
General and administrative 
Depreciation and amortization 
Other 

Loss from discontinued operations 

4. Resident Services Revenues 

$ 

$ 

2025 

4,469 
17,839 

212,573 

457 

(190,722) 

$ 

$ 

2024 

2,962,112 
4,293 

2,986,229 
51,510 

244,175 
3,890,950 

269,461 
1,406,314 

(5,882,234) 

The Organization disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers by type of service and payor 
source as this depicts the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of its revenue and cash flows as 
affected by economic factors. 

Resident services revenues consist of the following for the years ended March 31 : 

2025 
Amortization 

Independent Assisted of Entrance 
Living Living Skilled Nursing Fees Total 

Private pay $ 16,157,993 $ 3,739,076 $ 4,759,419 $ 8,257,623 $ 32,914,111 
Medicare 1,961,519 1,961,519 
Medicare Advantage 149,877 149,877 

Total $ 16,157,993 $ 3,739,076 $ 6,870,815 $ 8,257,623 $ 35,025,507 

2024 
Amortization 

Independent Assisted of Entrance 
Living Living Skilled Nursing Fees Total 

Private pay $ 14,713,476 $ 3,656,467 $ 3.907,642 $ 7,791 ,947 $ 30,069,532 
Medicare 2,057,211 2,057,211 
Medicare Advantage 198,344 198,344 

Total $ 14,713,476 $ 3,656,467 $ 6,163,197 $ 7,791 ,947 $ 32,325,087 
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Payment terms and conditions for the Organization's resident contracts vary by contract type and payer 
source, although terms generally include payment to be made within 30 days. Net resident service fee 
revenues for recurring and routine monthly services are generally billed monthly in advance. Net resident 
service fee revenues for ancillary services are generally billed monthly in arrears. Additionally, 
nonrefundable entrance fees are generally billed and collected in advance of move-in. Revenues 
collected from residents in advance are recognized as deferred revenue from entrance fees until the 
performance obligations are satisfied and are included in deferred revenues from entrance fees in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

The Organization receives revenue for services under a third-party payer program, Medicare. Settlements 
with Medicare for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews or investigations are included in the 
determination of the estimated transaction price for providing services. The Organization estimates the 
transaction price based on the terms of the contract and a correspondence with the Medicare and 
historical payment trends and retroactive adjustments are recognized in future periods as final 
settlements are determined. 

As described above, the Medicare Part A rates are based on clinical, diagnostic and other factors. The 
determination of these rates is partially based on The Organization's clinical assessment of its residents. 
The Organization is required to clinically assess its residents at predetermined time periods throughout 
the year. Therapy services provided to Medicare Part B beneficiaries are paid at the letter of a published 
fee schedule or actual charges. The documented assessments are subject to review and adjustment by 
the Medicare program. 

5. Fair Value Measurements, Investments and Assets Whose Use is Limited 

For financial instruments required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis, fair value is defined 
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is measured using a hierarchy 
prioritizing the inputs used in determining valuations into three levels. The level within the fair value 
hierarchy is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

The levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 

Fair value measurement applies to reported balances that are required or permitted to be measured 
at fair value under an existing accounting standard. The Organization emphasizes that fair value is 
a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement. Therefore, a fair value 
measurement should be determined based on the assumptions that market participants would use in 
pricing the asset or liability and establishes a fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy consists of 
three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value as follows: 

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible to the Organization for 
identical instruments. 

Level 2 - Significant inputs, other than Level 1 inputs that are observable either directly or 
indirectly for substantially the full term of the instruments through corroboration with observable 
market data. 

Level 3 - Significant unobservable inputs. 
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The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for the balances of the assets and liabilities of the 
Organization reported at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31 : 

2025 
Level1 Level2 Level3 Total 

Cash and money market funds $ 8,074,028 $ $ $ 8,074,028 

Mutual funds: 
Equity funds 17,573,237 17,573,237 
Exchange-traded funds 10,706,017 10,706,017 

Total mutual funds 28,279,254 28,279,254 

Equity securities: 
Large Cap 992,864 992,864 
Mid Cap 484,440 484,440 
Small Cap 26,980 26,980 
International 57,253 57,253 
Emerging markets and other 63,333 63,333 

Total equity securities 1,624,870 1,624,870 

Corporate and municipal bonds 857,283 857,283 

Other 24,462 24,462 

Perpetual trusts 1,496,771 1,496,771 

Total $ 38,859,897 $ $ 1,496,771 $ 40,356,668 

The above table does not include certain limited partnership and hedge fund investments reported at net 
asset value of $4,065,611 included within investments on the consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 
2025. 

2024 
Level1 Level2 Level3 Total 

Cash and money market funds $ 8,111,180 $ $ $ 8,111,180 

Mutual funds: 
Equity funds 16,274,085 16,274,085 
Exchange-traded funds 7,885,450 7,885,450 

Total mutual funds 24,159,535 24,159,535 

Equity securities: 
Large Cap 950,719 950,719 
Mid Cap 422,271 422,271 
Small Cap 46,895 46,895 
International 65,083 65,083 
Emerging markets and other 63,769 63,769 

Total equity securities 1,548,737 1,548,737 

Corporate and municipal bonds 724,759 724,759 

Other 23,328 23,328 

Perpetual trusts 1,511,649 1,511,649 

Total $ 34,567,539 $ $ 1,511,649 $ 36,079,188 
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The above table does not include certain limited partnership and hedge fund investments reported at net 
asset value of $4,539,760 included within investments on the consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 
2024. 

Valuation Methodologies 

Money market funds, mutual funds, equity securities, corporate and municipal bonds and other 
securities are valued at closing price reported in active markets for the same or similar securities. 

The perpetual trusts are valued at fair value based on the Organization's interest in the fair values of 
the underlying assets, which approximate the present value of estimated future cash flows to be 
received from the trusts. 

Certain investments are measured at net asset value as a practical expedient. These investments 
have redemption notices from one to fifteen days. Remaining commitments for these investments 
were approximately $981,000 as of March 31, 2025. 

Redemption 
Frequency 

2025 2024 (if Currently 
Fair Value Fair Value Eligible) 

Portfolio Advisors Private Equity Fund VIII 
(Offshore), LP. (a) $ 773,589 $ 460,974 n/a 

Step Stone Capital Partners V, LP. (b) 1,045,840 579,365 n/a 
Mercer Hedge Fund Investors SP-I (c) 1,683,392 2,146,881 Quarterly 
Lingerfelt Commonwealth Value 

Fund II, LP. (d) 307,534 992,781 n/a 
Northgate IV (EM) (e) 27,528 122,259 n/a 
Ziegler Link Age Fund Ill (f) 227,728 237,500 n/a 

Total $ 4,065,611 $ 4,539,760 

(a) PAPEF VIII offers its investors participation in high quality private equity funds and co-investments 
managed by leading private equity fund managers. Each Investor was provided the opportunity to 
select, in any proportion, from among five distinct sectors: (i) Buyout; (ii) Diversified Venture Capital; 
(iii) Special Situations; (iv) Co-Investments; and (v) Secondaries. The Buyout Sector is further 
subdivided into the following three classes (a) Diversified Buyout; (b) U.S. Middle Market Buyout; and 
(c) Rest of World (R.O.W.) Middle Market Buyout. 

{b) StepStone Capital Partners V invests alongside leading general partners in select transactions that 
are within these managers' core areas of expertise. The Fund invests in buyout, growth buyout and 
recapitalization opportunities where high-quality companies, general partner expertise and 
StepStone's due diligence advantages intersect. 

(c) The Fund's investment objective is to attempt to produce consistent capital appreciation with 
controlled volatility and reduced risk of major drawdowns. The Investment Manager allocates and 
reallocates the Fund's assets among a diversified group of investment managers (each a Portfolio 
Manager), by investing in private investment funds operated by such Portfolio Managers. The Fund 
focuses to an extent on less liquid private investment funds that the Investment Manager believes 
offer the potential for higher long-term returns than more liquid funds or investment vehicles. The 
Fund intends to provide investors access to various investment opportunities and strategies and to 
allocate capital to unique sources of risk and returns not readily available in the traditional markets. 

(d) The Fund's principal business activity is to make investments in private real estate entities, owning, 
managing, supervising and disposing of such investments. 
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(e) Holds private equity and venture capital partnerships which invest in equity, equity-related, and debt 
securities. The remaining investment in the Partnership is the Emerging Markets-Private Equity and 
Venture Capital (the EM Class), (collectively, the Classes and, individually, a Class). 

(f) The Partnership is principally engaged in making equity and equity related investments (including 
convertible debt) in companies that provide healthcare services, technology and related services 
focused on either the aging population and/or post-acute care market segments. Such investments 
are generally considered venture capital in nature. All active investments are domiciled in the United 
States of America. 

6. Liquidity and Availability of Resources 

7. 

The Organization invests cash in excess of short-term requirements in short-term investments. In 
addition, the Organization has long-term mutual funds and equity securities which are liquid within 
one week. In addition, the Organization has limited partnership and hedge fund investments with various 
liquidity requirements (Note 5) . 

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions limiting their 
use, within one year of the consolidated balance sheet date, comprise the following: 

2025 2024 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,247,306 $ 2,301,621 
Investments 29,521,029 26,306,416 
Receivables, net 1,898,542 426,034 

Total financial assets available to meet liquidity needs $ 34,666,877 $ 29,034,071 

Cash and cash equivalents, as disclosed above, include approximately $10,000 and $115,000 which 
have been reported within current assets from discontinued operations on the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. Investments, as disclosed 
above, exclude $2,382,219 and $2,392,879 of certain limited partnership and hedge fund investments 
that are subject to certain liquidity requirements and therefore not available for general expenditure within 
one year of the consolidated balance sheet date. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consists of the following at March 31: 

2025 2024 

Land and land improvements $ 11,853,380 $ 11,792,752 
Buildings and building improvements 143,810,499 142,793,250 
Furniture and equipment 9,595,855 9,182,045 
Vehicles 641,640 627,092 
Computer equipment and software 3,278,959 3,274,087 
Finance lease 380,177 

169,560,510 167,669,226 

Less accumulated depreciation (68,842,635) (63,121 ,534) 

100,717,875 104,547,692 

Construction in progress 328,411 22,020 

Property and equipment, net $ 101,046,286 $ 104,569,712 
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Depreciation expense was approximately $6,393,000 and $6,315,000 for the years ended March 31, 
2025 and 2024, respectively. No interest was capitalized during the years ended March 31, 2025 and 
2024. 

8. Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt consists of the following at March 31: 

Note payable issued in July 2018 to the Economic Development 
Authority of Hanover County, who in tum issued tax exempt 
Residential Care Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 
2018. 

Serial and term bonds issued in April 2022 to the Economic 
Development Authority of Hanover County, who in tum issued tax 
exempt Residential Care Facility Revenue Refunding Bonds, 
Series 2022. 

Total long-term debt 

Plus unamortized premium, Series 2018 and 2022 
Less unamortized deferred financing costs 

Less current portion 

Long-term debt, net of current portion 

2025 

$ 29,190,000 

53,145,000 

82,335,000 

3,224,179 
(1,443,094) 

84,116,085 

(1,670,000) 

$ 82,446,085 

2024 

$ 29,405,000 

54,540,000 

83,945,000 

3,509,311 
(1,560,517) 

85,893,794 

(1,610,000) 

$ 84,283,794 

As of March 31, 2024, the Obligated Group consists solely of Covenant Woods. Prior to March 31, 2024, 
the Obligated Group consisted of Covenant Woods and Advance Care. 

In July 2018, the Obligated Group received financing through the issuance of Residential Care Facility 
Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2018 through the Economic Development Authority of Hanover 
County. The Series 2018 bonds were issued in the amount of $30,200,000 to finance the acquisition, 
construction and equipping of additional assisted living/ memory support units, additional nursing units, 
renovation of existing units and community living space including dining facilities and to finance other 
costs associated with issuance of the Series 2018 bonds. In addition, the Series 2018 bonds were issued 
in part to refund the outstanding Series 2016 bond. The loan agreement is collateralized by a deed of 
trust which grant the credit institution a first priority lien on and a security interest in the property and 
equipment collateralized. 

The Series 2018 bonds mature gradually, starting July 1, 2028 through July 1, 2051. The Series 2018 
bonds requires semi-annual interest payments which began January 1, 2019. Beginning in July 2020, the 
Obligated Group started making deposits to the reserve funds in anticipation of the next required principal 
payment due on July 1, 2028. The note payable has a fixed interest rate ranging from 3.625% to 5.00%. 
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9. 

In April 2022, the Obligated Group received financing through the issuance of Residential Care Facility 
Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2022 through the Economic Development Authority of Hanover 
County. The Series 2022 bonds were issued in the total amount of $54,540,000 to refinance the 
Series 2012A note payable and to fund a debt service reserve fund and to fund costs of issuance and 
other financing expenses related to the issuance of the Series 2022 bonds. The Series 2022 loan 
agreement is collateralized by a deed of trust which grants the credit institution a first priority lien on and a 
security interest in the property and equipment collateralized. The Series 2022 debt is comprised of 
$12,855,000 in serial bonds which require annual payments through July 1, 2031. The remaining portion 
of the Series 2022 debt is comprised of term bonds totaling $20,195,000 and $21,490,000, due July 1, 
2046 and July 1, 2047, respectively. The Series 2022 bonds bear interest at 4%. 

In accordance with the terms of the existing long-term debt agreements, the Obligated Group is required 
among other things, to maintain various financial covenants, as defined, as of the end of each fiscal year. 

Required reserve fund payments are as follows for the years ending March 31 : 

2026 $ 1,670,000 
2027 1,740,000 
2028 1,810,000 
2029 1,885,000 
2030 1,965,000 
Thereafter 73,265,000 

Total $ 82,335,000 

Benefit Plan 

Covenant Woods sponsors a 403(b) defined contribution plan (the Plan) for all eligible employees. The 
Organization matches 50% of employee contributions, up to 3% of the participant's annual compensation 
as well as an additional 3% of the participant's annual compensation regardless if the employee made a 
contribution to the Plan. Total expense related to the Plan was approximately $502,000 and $492,000 for 
years ended March 31 , 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

10. Net Assets With Donor Restrictions 

Net assets with donor restrictions are restricted for the following purposes or periods as of March 31 : 

2025 2024 

Subject to expenditure for specific purpose: 
Resident assistance $ 2,623,203 $ 2,493,250 
Employee scholarships 211,051 202,379 
Elder support in greater community 170,427 155,724 
Other 60,140 53,785 

Total 3,064,821 2,905,138 

Beneficial interests in perpetual trusts 1,496,771 1,511,649 

Total net assets with donor restrictions $ 4,561,592 $ 4,416,787 
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11. Liability Insurance Coverage 

Liability Insurance 

The Organization has insurance coverage for possible litigation in the ordinary course of business 
related to general and professional liability claims. Management believes that claims, if asserted, 
would be settled within the limits of coverage. 

The Organization's medical malpractice coverage is on a claims-made basis with insurance limits of 
$2,000,000 per claim and $4,000,000 in the aggregate. Should the Organization not renew its 
claims-made policy, or replace it with equivalent insurance, claims incurred during the current policy's 
term but asserted after its expiration would be uninsured unless the Organization obtains tail 
coverage. Management plans to continue or renew all professional and medical liability coverage 
policies. 

Health Insurance 

During 2016, the Organization began to self-insure its employees' health plan by joining the Heritage 
Group Health Program. This program, on behalf of the Organization and other similar retirement 
communities in the state of Virginia, has contracted with an administrative service company to 
supervise and administer this program and act as its representative. Provisions for expected future 
payments are accrued based on the Organization's experience and include amounts for claims filed 
and claims incurred but not reported. The Organization insures for excessive and unexpected health 
claims and is liable for claims not to exceed $50,000 for each employee per plan year and an 
aggregate amount of $1,000,000 per plan year. 

12. Commitments and Contingencies 

The Organization is subject to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the course of providing health 
care services. The Organization maintains liability insurance coverage for claims made during the policy 
year. In management's opinion, adequate provision has been made for amounts expected to be paid 
under the policy's deductible limits for unasserted claims not covered by the policy and any other 
uninsured liability. 

The senior living services industry is subject to numerous laws, regulations and administrative directives 
of federal, state and local governments and agencies. Compliance with these laws, regulations and 
administrative directives is subject to future government review and interpretation as well as regulatory 
actions unknown or unasserted at this time. Government activity continues to increase with respect to 
investigations and allegations concerning possible violations by healthcare providers of fraud and abuse 
statutes and regulations, which could result in the imposition of significant fines and penalties as well as 
significant repayments for resident services previously billed. Management is not aware of any material 
incidents of noncompliance; however, the possible future financial effects of this matter on the 
Organization, if any, are not presently determinable. 
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Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
March 31, 2025 and 2024 

13. Functional Expenses 

The Organization's expenses for program services (including residential services, dietary, plant 
operations, housekeeping and laundry, social services and activities), general and administrative 
(including general and administrative, marketing and advertising) and fundraising are as follows for the 
years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024: 

Salaries and benefits 
Supplies, materials and office 

expenses 
Food 
Repairs and maintenance 
Occupancy costs 
Insurance 
Professional fees 
Interest 
Depreciation and amortization 
Other 

Total expenses by 
function 

Salaries and benefits 
Supplies, materials and office 

expenses 
Food 
Repairs and maintenance 
Occupancy costs 
Insurance 
Professional fees 
Interest 
Depreciation and amortization 
Other 

Total expenses by 
function 

Resident 
Services 

$ 15,067,419 

818,413 
1,775,233 

387,716 
1,712,390 

1,555 
120,092 

2,433,495 
4,155,665 
1,162,342 

$ 27,634,320 

Resident 
Services 

$ 14,058,206 

863,290 
1,756,330 

425,392 
1,680,051 

684 
133,299 

2,452,182 
4,104,987 
1,110,348 

$ 26,584,769 

Management 
General and 

Administrative 

2025 

$ 3,463,139 

79,755 
35,035 
20,140 

116,775 
618,598 
540,386 

1,310,343 
2,237,666 
2,167,832 

$ 10,589,669 

Management 
General and 

Administrative 

$ 3,359,701 

2024 

91,283 
28,838 
6,582 

86,641 
570,569 
443,136 

1,320,406 
2,210,377 
2,273,451 

$ 10,390,984 

$ 

$ 

Fundraising 

145,574 

2,147 
3,427 

18,435 

169,583 

Fundraising 

$ 

$ 

139,798 

2,654 
2,586 

12,089 

157,127 

Total 

$ 18,676, 132 

900,315 
1,813,695 

407,856 
1,829,165 

620,153 
660,478 

3,743,838 
6,393,331 
3,348,609 

$ 38,393,572 

Total 

$ 17,557,705 

957,227 
1,787,754 

431,974 
1,766,692 

571,253 
576,435 

3,772,588 
6,315,364 
3,395,888 

$ 37,132,880 

Depreciation and amortization and interest, as reported in the consolidated financial statements are 
attributable to more than one supporting function. Therefore, these expenses have been allocated on a 
reasonable basis that is consistently applied, generally based on a square footage basis of the campus 
for which the supporting function occupies. 
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Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Consolidating Balance Sheet 
March 31, 2025 

Covenant Parker & Advance AC 
Woods Gregg, LLC Care, LLC Hospice, LLC Eliminations Consolidated 

Assets 

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,189,019 $ 47,795 $ - $ $ - $ 3,236,814 
Resident and patient accounts receivables, net 430,069 - - - 430,069 
Entrance fees receivable 1,468,473 - - - 1,468,473 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 272,101 - - 272,101 
Current assets from discontinued operations - 29,643 9,671 39,314 

Total current assets 5,359,662 47,795 29,643 9,671 5,446,771 

Investments 31,580,396 322,852 - 31,903,248 

Assets Whose Use is Limited 
Restricted under perpetual donor restrictions 1,496,771 - 1,496,771 
Restricted under purpose donor restrictions 3,064,821 - - - 3,064,821 
Bond trustee funds and other 7,957,439 - - - - 7,957,439 

Total assets whose use is limited 12,519,031 - - - 12,519,031 

Investments in Subsidiaries 375,546 - - {375,546) 

Property and Equipment, Net 101 ,046,286 - 101,046,286 

Other Assets 583,721 - - 583,721 

Long-Term Assets From Discontinued Operations - 136,323 83,746 - 220,069 

Total assets $ 151,464,642 $ 370,647 $ 165,966 $ 93,417 $ {375,546) $ 151,719,126 

23 



Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Consolidating Balance Sheet 
March 31, 2025 

Covenant Parker & Advance AC 
Woods Gregg, LLC Care, LLC Hospice, LLC Eliminations Consolidated 

Liabilities and Net Assets 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable $ 463,925 $ - $ - $ $ - $ 463,925 
Accrued salaries and benefits 1,276,040 - - - 1,276,040 
Interest payable 893,025 - - 893,025 
Refundable deposits 698,035 - 698,035 
Current portion of long-term debt 1,670,000 - - 1,670,000 
Other current liabilities 738,001 300 - - 738,301 
Current liabilities from discontinued operations - 105,465 63,307 - 168,772 

Total current liabilities 5,739,026 300 105,465 63,307 - 5,908,098 

Long-Term Liabilities 
Long-term debt, net of current portion 82,446,085 82,446,085 
Refundable entrance fees 2,644,399 2,644,399 
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 58,053,673 58,053,673 
Long-term liabilities from discontinued operations - 55,302 33,973 89,275 

Total long-term liabilities 143,144,157 55,302 33,973 143,233,432 

Total liabilities 148,883, 183 300 160,767 97,280 - 149,141,530 

Net Assets 
Without donor restrictions (1,980,133) 370,347 5,199 (3,863) (375,546) (1,983,996) 
With donor restrictions 4,561,592 4,561,592 

Total net assets 2,581,459 370,347 5,199 (3,863) (375,546) 2,577,596 

Total liabilities and net assets $ 151,464,642 $ 370,647 $ 165,966 $ 93,417 $ (375,546) $ 151,719,126 
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Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Consolidating Statement of Operations 
Year Ended March 31, 2025 

Covenant Parker & Advance AC 
Woods Grol!I!• LLC Care, LLC Hoselce, LLC Eliminations Consolidated 

Revenues, Gains and Other Support 
Resident services, net $ 26,767,884 $ $ $ $ $ 26,767,884 

Amortization of entrance fees 8,257,623 8,257.623 

Gttts and donations 245,847 245,847 

Interest and dividend Income 1,462,874 28,348 1,491,222 
Net realized (losses) gains on sales of investments (308,898) 18,301 (290,597) 
Net assets released from restrictions, operations 120,428 120,428 
Other 1,701,791 1,701,791 

Total revenues, gains and other support 38,247,549 46,649 38,294,198 

Operating Expenses 
Residential 7,352,923 7,352,923 
Dietary 5,939,552 5,939.552 
Plant operations 3,950,649 3,950,649 

Housekeeping and laundry 1,496.026 1,496,026 

Social services and activities 2,306,010 2,306.010 
Marketing and advertising 1,017,405 1,017,405 
General and administrative 5,886,176 1,098 5,887,274 
Depreciation and amortization 6,393,331 6,393.331 
Interest, net of amortization of deferred financing costs, 
bond premium and capitalized interest 3,699,007 3,699,007 
Interest atlributable to amortization of deferred financing costs, 
bond premium and capitalized interest, net 44,831 44,831 
Fundraising 169,583 169.583 
Other 136.981 136,981 

Total operating expenses 38,392.474 1,098 38,393,572 

(Loss) Income from continuing operations (144,925) 45,551 !99,374) 

Nonoperatlng Income 
Unrealized gains and losses on investments 434,242 (29,319) 404,923 
Loss on disposal of assets !86,596) !86,596! 

Total nonoperating income from continuing operations 347.646 (29,319) 318.327 

Revenues, gains and other support in excess of 
expenses from continuing operations 202.721 16,232 218,953 

Loss From Discontinued Operations (Note 31 (137,370) (53,352) (190,722) 

Other Changes In Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 
Change in investment In subsidiary (159,456) 159,456 
Related-party transfers (192,129) 153,810 38,319 

Total other changes in net assets 
without donor restrictions (159,456) (192,129} 153.810 38,319 159,456 

Change in net assets without donor restrictions $ 43,265 $ (175,897) $ 16,440 $ (15,033) $ 159,456 $ 28,231 
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Covenant Woods and Subsidiaries 
Consolidating Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
Year Ended March 31, 2025 

Covenant Parker & Advance AC 
Woods Gregg, LLC Care, LLC Hospice, LLC Eliminations Consolidated 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 
Revenues, gains and other support 

in excess of expenses $ 202,721 $ 16,232 $ - $ $ $ 218,953 
Loss from discontinued operations (137,370) (53,352) - (190,722) 
Total other changes in net assets 

without donor restrictions (159,456) (192,129) 153,810 38,319 159,456 

Change in net assets without 
donor restrictions 43,265 (175,897) 16,440 (15,033) 159,456 28,231 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions, Purpose 
Contributions 39,123 - - 39,123 
Interest income and dividends 103,063 - - 103,063 
Net realized tosses 1,610 - 1,610 
Net unrealized gains 136,315 136,315 
Releases from restrictions (120,428} - (120,42fll 

Change in net assets with donor 
restrictions, purpose 159,683 159,683 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions, Perpetual 
Change in fair value of perpetual trusts (14,878) (14,878) 

Change in net assets with donor 
restrictions, perpetual (14,878} (14,878) 

Change in net assets with 
donor restrictions 144,805 144,805 

Change in net assets 188,070 (175,897) 16,440 (15,033) 159,456 173,036 

Net Assets, Beginning 2,393,389 546,244 (11,241) 11,170 (535,002) 2,404,560 

Net Assets, Ending $ 2,581,459 $ 370,347 $ 5,199 $ (3,863) $ (375,546) $ 2,577,596 
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APPENDIXB 

PROFORMA INCOME STATEMENTS 

The following is a discussion of the actual operating results for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025, 
compared to the budget for that same period. Additionally, a schedule is included that presents not 
only the actual and budgeted figures for fiscal year 2025 but also the approved budget for the fiscal 
year ending March 31, 2026. The pro fonna schedule is formatted consistently with the audited 
financial statements to ensure comparability. 

Overall, total revenues exceeded the budget by approximately $1.2 million, representing a 3.4% 
positive variance. This was primarily driven by stronger-than-anticipated performance in independent 
living occupancy, nursing and therapy services, and the amortization of entrance fees. Additionally, 
there was significant income generated from interest and dividends, partially offset by a minor realized 
loss on investment sales. 

Total expenses came in slightly above budget, exceeding projections by 0.9%. The key contributors to 
this variance were unbudgeted overtime and the use of agency staff in Assisted Living and Nursing 
Care, as well as higher legal and consulting fees. 

Covenant Woods made the decision to discontinue operations of Advance Care (Home Health agency) 
and Advance Care Hospice as of January 2024. The results of these operations are reflected in the 
Loss from Discontinued Operations line. 

The FY26 budget projects revenues to be approximately 5.5% higher than the FY25 budget and 2.0% 
higher than actual FY25 revenues. The expectation for FY26 is to sustain census levels across all 
levels of care. Budgeted FY26 expenses are projected to increase by 5.1 % over the FY25 budget and 
4.1 % over actual FY25 expenses. The primary drivers of the increase include rising salary and benefit 
costs, along with elevated inflation rates affecting supplies and subscription services. 
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FY25 
FY26 Audited 

Budget Actual FY25 Budget 
Unrestricted revenue, gains, and other support: 
Independent Living Revenues 17,623,111 16,703,126 16,350,115 
Assisted Living Revenues 4,010,277 3,739,076 3,891,312 
Nursing & Therapy Revenues 6,980,077 6,870,815 6,443,612 

Earned Entrance fees 7,469,960 8,257,623 7,379,987 

Covenant Program (528,330) (545,133) (420,000) 
Gifts and donations 198,000 245,848 330,000 
Interest and dividend income 1,193,764 1,462,874 1,117,151 
Net realized gain (loss) on sale of investments 308,898) 250,000 
Other 2.114.321 1 !868.867 1 !691.424 
Total revenues 39,061,180 38,294,198 37,033,601 

Expenses: 
Salaries 18,170,189 17,102,161 16,176,079 
Benefits 1,773,113 1,571,934 1,755,653 
Supplies and materials 925,574 820,122 1,040,975 
Depreciation and amortization 6,423,248 6,320,739 6,074,824 
Repairs and maintenance 1,013,343 988,715 1,037,301 
Professional fees 555,362 658,014 413,816 
Food 1,937,853 1,813,695 1,865,105 

Occupancy costs 1,942,287 1,876,551 1,993,664 
Taxes 1,016,721 977,706 1,014,281 
Insurance 590,684 618,598 601,741 
Interest 3,761,645 3,816,429 4,077,360 
Other I !871 3932 13828!908 23000.110 
Total Expenses 3929812951 38J932572 3820502909 
Operating Income (Loss) (920,771) (99,374) (1,017,308) 

Loss on disposal of assets (86596) 

Excess revenues, gains and other support over expenses (920,771) (185,970) (1,017,308) 

Other changes in unrestricted net assets: 
Net unrealized gain (loss) on investments 404,923 550,000 
Loss from Discontinued Operations (Home Health and 
Hospice) (190.722) 

Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets (9202771) 28,231 (467J08) 
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Summary of Financial Information as of March 31, 2025 

Current Year Prior Year 

Total Assets $151,719,126 $ 149,123,886 

Total Liabilities 149,141,530 146,716,923 

Total Net Assets 2,577,596 2,406,963 

Total Revenues 38,294,198 35,927,766 

Total Expenses 38,393,572 37,132,880 

Operating Income (Loss) (99,374) (1,205,114) 

Net income (Loss) $28,23 I $(3,846,351) 

Narrative on Financial Condition: 

In FY2025, operating revenues were 3.4% over budget while expenses were 0.9% over budget, 
resulting in a net operating margin of (0.3%) which was above the targeted (2. 7% ). 

The FY25 debt service coverage ratio ended at 2.34 compared to the budget of 2.10, which was above 
the minimum loan requirement of I .00. At the end of FY25, days cash on hand was 397 which was 
above the budget of 315 and above the minimum loan requirement of I 50. 

The change in unrestricted net assets was a positive $28,231 primarily due to increased revenues based 
on increased occupancy, administrative fee on entrance fees, and interest and dividend income offset 
by the ability to control expenses for the year. For more detailed information, please refer to 
Appendix C attached for the most recent financial audit results. 

Occupancy Information 
Available Average % 

Units* Occu(!ancl'. OCCU(!anCl'. 

Independent Living 230 210 91.3% 
Assisted Living 39 33 83.4% 
Memory Support 21 17 81.4% 

Nursing 62 55 89.0% 
Total 352 315 89.5% 

*Available units are based on average number of units 
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COVENANT WOODS 

LIFECARE RESIDENCY AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into this_ day of ____ , 20_, 
by and between _______________________ (collectively 
referred to as the "Resident," "Joint Resident(s)," "You" or "Your") and COVENANT WOODS 
("Our," "We" or "Us"), a Virginia non-stock not-for-profit corporation, operating Covenant 
Woods, a continuing care retirement community ("Community" or "Covenant Woods"). 

We have accepted Your application for residence in the Community subject to the provisions of 
this Agreement. 

A. SERVICES PROVIDED 

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, We will provide You the residential 
and health care facilities and services specified in this Agreement from the Occupancy Date 
(as defined in Section C.2) until the death of Resident or the earlier termination of this 
Agreement. 

You agree to comply with the terms of this Agreement and to abide by Covenant Woods' 
Resident Handbook, policies, rules and regulations as current and in effect at any time 
("Community Policies"), including any rules reasonably promulgated especially for either 
You or a limited group of residents or otherwise agreed to by You as a condition of 
continuing residence. 

You shall disclose to Us immediately any material change in Your physical, mental or 
financial condition prior to establishing residency; and this obligation to disclose shall 
continue throughout Your residency. You shall provide financial statements and tax 
returns at Our request. 

B. JOINT RESIDENCY 

Ifthere are two persons named above as Resident, this is a Joint Residency Agreement. If 
this Agreement is terminated with respect to one of the Joint Residents, the Agreement will 
remain in effect with respect to the remaining Resident unless otherwise stated in this 
Agreement. For Joint Residents the Entrance Fee and the Monthly Service Fee due under 
this Agreement shall include an Additional Person Fee. Each Joint Resident is jointly and 
severally liable for the payment of the Entrance Fee, the Monthly Service Fee and all other 
amounts required to be paid to the Corporation pursuant to this Agreement. 
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C. RESIDENCE; OCCUPANCY DA TE 

1. Residence 

The Residence selected by Resident is set forth in Exhibit A (the "Residence"). 
You will have a personal, non-assignable right to reside in the Residence, subject 
to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including a change in 
accommodations as hereinafter provided. 

While residing in the Residence, You may have pets in Your Residence only in 
accordance with Our established pet policy. 

2. Occupancy Date 

D. FEES 

"Occupancy Date" means the date provided in Lifecare Residency Agreement 
(whether or not Resident actually occupies the Residence on such date), or such 
other date as may be agreed to by the parties in writing. 

Resident shall pay the following fees: 

1. Entrance Fee 

a. The Resident agrees to pay the Entrance Fee set forth in Exhibit A. An 
Administrative Fee equal to 8% Any refund of the Entrance Fee and 
Administrative Fee shall be governed by Section G of this Agreement. 

b. If the Residence is currently ready for occupancy by Resident, You shall 
pay the full amount of the Entrance Fee to Us when You sign this 
Agreement and return it to Us, or on such later date as agreed to by Us as 
set forth in Exhibit A. If the Residence is not ready for occupancy on the 
date hereof, the Entrance Fee shall be payable as follows: 

(i) A deposit equal to 10% of the Entrance Fee, less any previously paid 
reservation fee, as set forth in Exhibit A, is due when You sign the 
Reservation Agreement. 

(ii) The remaining balance is due on or before the Occupancy Date. 

2. Monthly Service Fee/Other Services 

a. You agree to pay to Us each month, starting with the month of the 
Occupancy Date, the Monthly Service Fee applicable to the Residence 
based on the numbers of Residents. The Monthly Service Fee shall be 
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prorated for the first month according to the number of days remaining in 
the calendar month following Occupancy Date. 

b. The first Monthly Service Fee is due on the Occupancy Date. The Monthly 
Service Fee is thereafter payable in advance on the first day of each calendar 
month. If it is not paid within 7 days after You have been billed, We may 
levy a late charge of 5% of the amount due. Resident also shall pay interest 
at the rate of I 0% per annum on any amount which is not paid within 30 
days after the billing statement reflecting such amount is mailed or 
presented to Resident. 

c. The Monthly Service Fee is payable whether or not You actually occupy 
the Residence and will be charged on every unit occupied by You. The 
Monthly Service Fee will not change because of Resident's or Joint 
Resident's transfer to a higher level of living in the Community, other than 
as provided in section J.4. 

d. If this is a Joint Residency Agreement and the Agreement is tenninated with 
respect to one of the Joint Residents, the Monthly Service Fee will be 
reduced by the then current Additional Person Fee, effective the month 
following the date of tennination. 

e. We may adjust the Monthly Service Fee from time to time, in Our sole 
discretion, with 30 days advance written notice to You. We will endeavor 
to maintain the Monthly Service Fee at the lowest possible rate based on 
actual costs and consistent with sound financial practice, including the 
maintenance of reserves, and maintenance of the scope of services called 
for by this Agreement. 

f. Resident acknowledges that there may be different fee schedules in effect 
for the Community's residents and that other residents may pay a lower 
Monthly Service Fee for a residence similar to Resident's Residence. 
Resident further acknowledges that We may provide residence and care at 
the Community under other types of agreements. 

g. You will be billed monthly, in arrears, for any services and supplies 
provided by Us, but not included in the Monthly Service Fee. 

h. Charges for care paid in one lump sum shall not be increased or changed 
during the duration of the agreed upon care, except for changes required by 
state or federal assistance programs. 
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E. RESCISSION OR TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT BEFORE 
OCCUPANCY DATE 

1. Voluntary Rescission within 7 days 

You have the right to rescind this Agreement without penalty or forfeiture by 
delivering written notice to Us within 7 days after the last to occur of the following: 

a. making the initial Entrance Fee Deposit, or 

b. signing this Agreement, 

If You rescind the Agreement within that 7-day period for any reason, You will 
receive a refund of any Entrance Fee paid pursuant to Section G. l. You are not 
required to move in during the 7-day period. If this is a Joint Residency Agreement, 
and one Joint Resident rescinds within the 7-day period for any reason, the 
Agreement will be deemed terminated as to both Residents. 

2. Voluntary Termination prior to Occupancy Date 

After the 7-day period described in Section E. l ., but prior to the Occupancy Date, 
You may terminate this Agreement with immediate effect by delivering written 
notice of termination to Us. You will receive a refund of any Entrance Fee paid 
pursuant to Section G.2. If this is a Joint Residency Agreement, and only one of 
the Joint Residents terminates the Agreement pursuant to this section, the 
Agreement will be deemed terminated as to both Residents. 

3. Termination upon Death 

If Resident dies prior to the Occupancy Date, this Agreement shall be considered 
automatically terminated. Refund of any paid Entrance Fee shall be paid in 
accordance with Section G.3. If this is a Joint Residency Agreement, the 
Agreement will be deemed terminated as to both Residents. 

4. Termination upon Material Change in Physical, Mental or Financial Condition 

If, after the 7-day period described above but prior to the Occupancy Date, You 
become incapacitated physically or mentally to the degree that You may no longer 
qualify for Independent Living or Your financial condition has materially 
deteriorated in comparison to the information submitted as part of Your Application 
for Residency, You, whether a Resident or a Joint Resident, or Your representative 
shall immediately notify Us of the occurrence and nature of such incapacitation. If, 
in Our opinion, the Resident prior to the Occupancy Date has become unable to 
enter the Community in Independent Living under this contract fonn due to illness, 
injury or incapacity or change in financial condition, We shall notify the Resident 
and this Agreement shall be considered automatically terminated. Refund of any 
paid Entrance Fee shall be paid in accordance with Section G.3. If this is a Joint 
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Residency Agreement, the Agreement will be deemed terminated as to both 
Residents. 

F. TERMINATION OF RESIDENCY AGREEMENT AFTER OCCUPANCY DATE 

1. Death of a Resident 

If not a Joint Residency Agreement, this Agreement shall terminate at the date of 
Resident's death. The Monthly service fee will continue to be in effect until all 
property is removed from the unit. If this is a Joint Residency Agreement, this 
Agreement shall remain effective with respect to the surviving Joint Resident (see 
also Section G.6.). 

2. Termination by Resident 

You may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving Us written notice. The 
Agreement shall terminate (the "Termination Date") at the later of (i) the date that 
is 180 days after Our receipt of Your written notice of termination, (ii) the date that 
You, in fact, vacate Your Residence or (iii) the date all personal property of the 
Resident has been removed from the Community. If this is a Joint Residency 
Agreement, and only one Resident gives a notice of termination, this Agreement 
shall remain effective with respect to the other Resident. 

3. Termination by Covenant Woods 

We shall not terminate this Agreement except for Good Cause. "Good Cause" 
means a determination by Us that one or more of the following statements are true: 
(i) You are a danger to Yourself or others; (ii) You have failed to pay fees that are 
due to Us; (iii) You have repeatedly engaged in conduct that interferes with other 
Residents' quiet enjoyment of Covenant Woods; (iv) You have persistently refused 
to comply with reasonable written rules and regulations of Covenant Woods; (v) 
You made a material misrepresentation, either intentionally or recklessly, in Your 
Application for Residency, or related materials, regarding information which, if 
accurately provided, would have resulted in either Your failure to qualify for 
Residency or a material increase in the cost of providing to You the care and 
services provided under this Agreement; or (vi) You have committed a material 
breach of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. We shall not terminate this 
Agreement until We have given You 30 day written notice stating the grounds of 
termination and a reasonable period of time for cure. The effective date of such 
termination shall be stated in the written notice. In the case of Joint Residents, this 
termination can apply to both Residents or to only one Resident; if the termination 
applies to only one Resident, this Agreement shall remain effective with respect to 
the other Resident. 
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G. REFUNDS 

Any refunds due to You under this Agreement shall be made according to the provisions 
of this Section and in certain events Sections J and N. 

1. Rescission Within 7 Days prior to Occupancy Date 

If You rescind this Agreement in accordance with Section E. l ., You will receive a 
full refund within 30 days of the date of rescission of any paid Entrance Fee and 
other sums paid to Us, less any costs specifically incurred by Us at Your request 
according to a written amendment to this Agreement or Special Provisions set forth 
in Exhibit A. No interest shall be paid to Resident on the refunded amounts. 

2. Voluntary Termination prior to Occupancy Date 

If You terminate this Agreement in accordance with Section E.2., You will receive 
a refund within 30 days of the date of termination of any paid Entrance Fee and 
other sums paid to Us, less (i) an administrative fee of 10% of deposit paid, and (ii) 
any costs specifically incurred by Us at Your request according to a written 
amendment to this Agreement or Special Provisions set forth in Exhibit A. No 
interest shall be paid to Resident on the refunded amounts. 

3. Termination upon Death or Incapacity prior to Occupancy Date 

If this Agreement is terminated because of death or incapacity, as described in 
Sections E.3. and E.4 .. You or Your estate will receive a full refund within 30 days 
of the date of termination of any paid Entrance Fee and other sums paid to Us, less 
any costs specifically incurred by Us at Your request according to a wTitten 
amendment to this Agreement or Special Provisions set forth in Exhibit A. No 
interest shall be paid to Resident on the refunded amounts. 

4. Termination After Occupancy Date 

In the event of termination after the Occupancy Date, refunds shall be made in 
accordance with the type of Entrance Fee selected by Resident as set forth in 
Exhibit A and further described below. Any refund provided for under this Section 
G.4 of the Agreement shall not include refund of the Administrative Fee. 

a. Declining Refund Entrance Fee 

A portion of the Entrance Fee paid will be refunded if You move from 
Covenant Woods and terminate this Agreement prior to complete 
amortization. The refund will be an amount equal to the Entrance Fee paid, 
less the 8% Administrative Fee deducted from the Entrance Fee and less 2% 
of the Entrance Fee paid for each full or partial month of residency (the 
period between the Occupancy Date and the date this Agreement is 
terminated) until the balance is 0. Any unpaid charges will be deducted 
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from the refund. We may deduct the full amount of financial assistance, 
including interest, from the refund. 

b. 50% Guaranteed Refund Entrance Fee 

If You move from Covenant Woods and terminate this Agreement after the 
Occupancy Date, no less than 50% of the Entrance Fee paid, less the 8% 
Administrative Fee deducted from the Entrance Fee, will be refunded. The 
refund will be an amount equal to the Entrance Fee paid, less the 8% 
Administrative Fee deducted from the Entrance Fee and less 2% of the 
Entrance Fee paid for each full or partial month of residency (the period 
between the Occupancy Date and the date this Agreement is terminated), at 
which time the refund will be 50% of the Entrance Fee, less the 8% 
Administrative Fee deducted from the Entrance Fee. It will remain a 
constant 50% thereafter, less the 8% Administrative Fee deducted from the 
Entrance Fee, regardless of the length of residency at Covenant Woods. 
Any unpaid charges will be deducted from the refund. We may deduct the 
full amount of financial assistance, including interest, from the refund. 

c. 90% Guaranteed Refund Entrance Fee 

If You move from Covenant Woods and terminate this Agreement after the 
Occupancy Date, no less than 90% of the Entrance Fee paid, less the 8% 
Administrative Fee deducted from the Entrance Fee, will be refunded. The 
refund will be an amount equal to the Entrance Fee paid, less the 8% 
Administrative Fee deducted from the Entrance Fee and less 2% of the 
Entrance Fee paid for each full or partial month of residency (the period 
between the Occupancy Date and the date this Agreement is terminated) at 
which time the refund will reach 90% of the Entrance Fee, less the 8% 
Administrative Fee deducted from the Entrance Fee. It will remain a 
constant 90% thereafter, less the 8% Administrative Fee deducted from the 
Entrance Fee, regardless of the length of residency at Covenant Woods. 
Any unpaid charges will be deducted from the refund. We may deduct the 
full amount of financial assistance, including interest, from the refund. 

d. Any required refund shall be paid to You or Your estate upon the earlier to 
occur of (i) the execution of a new Residency Agreement by another 
Resident for Your Residence or (ii) the expiration of 12 months from the 
date of termination. No interest shall be paid to Resident on the refunded 
amounts. 

5. Monthly Service Fee 

In the event of Your death or termination by Us, You or Your estate shall receive a 
refund of a pro rata portion, if any, of the Monthly Service Fee paid for the month 
termination occurs. 
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In the event of termination by You, the Monthly Service Fee will be due until the 
Termination Date determined pursuant to Section F.2. You shall receive a refund 
of a pro rata portion, if any, of the Monthly Service Fee paid for the month of the 
Termination Date. 

Any refund of the Monthly Service Fee will be paid as provided in sub-section 
( 4 )( d) above. 

6. Joint Residents 

If this is a Joint Residency Agreement there shall be no refund of the paid Entrance 
Fee until both Joint Residents cease to be Residents of the Community. Any refund 
shall be paid to the estate of the last surviving Joint Resident, or to the last Joint 
Resident who resided at the Community. 

If this Agreement is terminated with respect to one of the Joint Residents, there 
shall be no refund of the Monthly Service Fee. The Monthly Service Fee will be 
reduced by the then current Additional Person Fee effective the month following 
the termination. 

H. SERVICES TO RESIDENTS 

The Monthly Service Fee includes access to amenities and certain services. Other services 
may be available for an additional charge. Except for changes required by state or federal 
assistance programs, We will notify Resident of any proposed change in the scope of care 
or services provided by Us at least 30 days before such change is effective. 

I. Services currently included in the Monthly Service Fee: 

a. Flex meal credits as defined in the resident handbook, as updated from time 
to time. These credits can be used to purchase any food or non-alcoholic 
beverage at any of the dining venues on campus, as defined in the resident 
handbook. 

b. Basic housekeeping bi- weekly. 

c. Real estate taxes and utilities (electricity, water, natural gas, sewer, and 
refuse), subject to availability to Covenant Woods by the providers thereof. 

d. Cable/Satellite T.V. hook-up availability (but not cable/satellite services), 
washer and dryer, stove, dishwasher, refrigerator, and microwave. 

e. Maintenance of Residence and grounds. 

f. Transportation in accordance with the Community Policies. 

g. Assisted Living Care, Memory Support Care and Nursing services, as 
provided in this Agreement. 
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h. The Community's Wellness Program. 

1. Security consisting of monitoring of the premises by security personnel and 
cameras, and limited access to the Community. 

J. Emergency call system. 

k. Use of common area facilities. 

l. Maintenance of appliances furnished by Us. 

m. Temporary meal delivery as provided in the Community Policies from time 
to time. 

n. Parking in accordance with the Community's parking regulations as updated 
from time to time. 

2. Additional Services currently available in Independent Living at extra cost: 

a. Additional housekeeping. 

b. Cable/Satellite, internet and television, subject to availability to Covenant 
Woods by the providers thereof. 

c. Extra transportation services as provided in the Community Policies. 

d. Special activities. 

e. Spa and salon services. 

f. Occupational, physical and speech therapy. 

3. Lifecare 

Subject to availability, the Lifecare benefit includes short-term or long-term use of 
Health Services (Assisted Living, Memory Support and Nursing), if approved by 
Us, after consultation with the Inter-Disciplinary Care Team, with You, Your 
family, and/or Your physician. Resident will be charged for any unit occupied by 
You. 

We shall not be responsible for the cost of any services to the extent that benefits 
are payable for such services under Medicare and Medicare Supplement policies, 
or the equivalent. You must, upon request, take such action and execute such forms 
as are necessary to secure reimbursement to Us of any amounts payable for services 
that can be compensated for in whole or in part by such sources. 

Resident is responsible for payment of the cost of all health related services not 
expressly covered by this Agreement. Examples of charges for which You are 
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responsible include but are not limited to: personal care, services rendered by a 
clinic, physician, or other practitioner of any therapeutic or palliative art or 
profession; services rendered by a hospital, rehabilitation facility or laboratory; 
medications and medical supplies; appliance, equipment, or other aids to modify 
the effects of handicapping conditions, and other health related items. 

Home health agencies and private duty providers contracted by Resident and must 
be licensed and bonded and approved by us, which approval can be withdrawn 
under appropriate circumstances. Resident is responsible for payment of such 
agency's services directly to the agency. Depleting reserves through paying for 
private duty or home health services in order to remain in Independent Living, for 
purposes of this definition, does not qualify a resident for financial assistance. 

4. Assisted Living Services and Care 

The Assisted Living Center is designed for those who are unable to function 
independently in an independent living unit, but do not need continuous medical 
supervision. Assisted Living residents receive those services listed in Section H. l. 
and receive help in activities of daily living; increased assistance in housekeeping; 
increased monitoring of personal status; monitoring of medications; and bath and 
bed linens as set forth in the Community Policies. 

5. Memory Support Services and Care 

Memory Support Residents receive those services listed in Section H.1. and receive 
help activities of daily living; assistance in attending meals; increased assistance in 
housekeeping; increased monitoring of personal status; monitoring of medications; 
and bath and bed linens as set forth in the Community Policies 

6. Nursing Facility Services and Care 

Residents of the Nursing Facility receive those services listed in Section H. l. 
commensurate with their condition and other care varying with their needs, the 
highest level of which is total nursing bed care in accordance with the Rules and 
Regulations for Licensed Nursing Homes promulgated by the Virginia Department 
of Health as set forth in the Community Policies. 

7. If, in Our opinion, after consultation with the Inter-Disciplinary Care Team, and/or 
Your physician, You require care that cannot be given at Covenant Woods, for 
example, because You have a dangerously contagious disease, You require 
specialized psychiatric care, or You have any other condition requiring services 
prohibited under the license of the Nursing Facility or beyond our scope of care, 
We will assist You in transferring to an appropriate facility and You will be 
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responsible for all costs associated with care at such facility. See further Section 
J.2. 

8. You are required to carry Medicare Insurance Parts A and B and a Medicare 
Supplement, or the equivalent of such coverage. We reserve the right to require 
evidence of such insurance coverage. 

I. RESIDENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

1. Housekeeping 

Resident will be responsible for maintaining the Residence in a clean, sanitary and 
orderly condition, performing all usual light housekeeping tasks as necessary 
between housekeeping services provided by Us. We reserve the right to inspect 
Your Residence, after proper notice to You. If You fail to maintain Your 
Residence as required above, We may charge You for housekeeping services 
required to maintain Your Residence in a clean, sanitary and orderly condition. 

2. Guests 

You are permitted to have guests in the Residence, subject to the rules and 
regulations set forth in the Community Policies. You will be responsible for the 
conduct of Your guests and for payment of any charges incurred by Your guests. 

J. TRANSFER FROM YOUR RESIDENCE 

1. You agree that We may transfer You on a permanent or temporary basis to a 
different Residence, to the Assisted Living Center, to the Memory Support Center, 
or to the Nursing Facility when We, after consultation with the Inter-Disciplinary 
Care Team, and after consultation with You, Your family and/or Your physician, 
determine that such a transfer is necessary for Your well-being or the safety of You 
or other residents or if you are unable to maintain yourself in your residence. The 
Inter-Disciplinary Care Team typically includes a registered nurse, physician, 
dietician, social worker, activity coordinator and possibly other Covenant Woods 
Team members. 

Although it is anticipated that bed space at the Assisted Living Center, the Memory 
Support Center and the Nursing Facility ("Health and Wellness Center") will be 
adequate to meet the demand for such space, We cannot guarantee the availability 
of bed space at the Health and Wellness Center. Should bed space at the Health 
and Wellness Center not be available when needed, We will utilize Our best efforts 
to contract for nursing services to be provided by a licensed outside facility selected 
by Us. We will use Our best efforts to obtain for Resident a place in a facility which 
is comparable to the Health and Wellness Center. Resident shall continue payment 
of the Monthly Service Fee to Us even if Resident is transferred as described above. 
So long as Resident continues to pay the Monthly Service Fee, We will pay the cost 
of the care provided at such outside facility that is similar to the care provided at 
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Covenant Woods. Resident shall be responsible for payment of all fees and 
expenses in excess of the amount paid by Us. Any resident transferred to an outside 
facility will be returned to the Community as soon as the proper facilities are 
available in Health and Wellness Center. 

2. You agree that, if You suffer any condition for which We are not permitted to 
provide or not capable of providing care, We shall, after consultation with the Inter­
Disciplinary Care Team, You, Your family and/or Your physician, assist in 
transferring You to an appropriate facility and You will be responsible for all costs 
associated with care at such facility. Unless Resident terminates this Agreement 
pursuant to Section F .2., Resident shall continue payment of the Monthly Service 
Fee during any period Resident is staying in another facility. 

3. We may transfer You, on reasonable notice, to a different Residence on a temporary 
or permanent basis in the event of special circumstances, such as the need for 
renovation or repair to Your Residence or the transfer of such space to a different 
use or configuration or to promote harmony or avoid conflict among residents. 

4. You may transfer to another Residence within the Community, provided it is not a 
newly constructed or rebuilt Residence, with Our prior written approval. If Your 
request is approved, You will have 24 hours to accept the Residence that We notify 
You in writing is available, and if You accept the Residence as Your Residence, 
We will determine and assess the amount of any additional Entrance Fee, or any 
refund or credit thereof, which is appropriate to Your new Residence, as described 
below. Except as otherwise expressly stated in this Section J, no refund of the 
Entrance Fee shall be due upon such transfer. Your Monthly Service Fee shall 
become that which is applicable to Your new Residence ( under the then current fee 
schedule for new residents under this type of residency agreement) effective the 
first month following the transfer; provided, however, that if after transfer to a unit 
for which the Monthly Service Fee is lower than that payable for the unit from 
which You transfer, upon any transfer to Assisted Living, Memory Support, Or 
Nursing Care after less than 24 months in the second unit, the Monthly Service Fee 
that you pay in the Health & Wellness Center shall be the fee applicable to the unit 
from which you transferred. If You have not moved to Your new Residence and 
paid any additional amount due within 30 days of notification of the availability of 
such unit or such other transfer date agreed upon by You and Us, Our approval of 
the requested transfer is revoked without further action. 

a. If the then current Entrance Fee for Your new Residence is less than the 
Entrance Fee originally paid by You, any refund of part of the Entrance Fee 
paid by You will be determined as follows: (1) 2% of the Entrance Fee paid 
for the old Residence shall be deducted from such Entrance Fee for each 
full or partial month from the Occupancy Date to the date of Your transfer, 
and (2) 2% of the then current Entrance Fee for the new Residence (based 
on the refund plan selected in Exhibit A and this type of residency 
agreement) shall be deducted from such Entrance Fee for each full or partial 
month from the Occupancy Date to the date of Your transfer. If the net 

Covenant \\foods Litccare Contract( v 19) effective October l, 2025 

12 



amount for Your new Residence is less than the net amount for the old 
Residence, You will be due a refund equal to the difference between the 
amounts. Any required refund shall be paid upon the earlier to occur of (i) 
the execution of a new Residency Agreement by another resident for Your 
old Residence and (ii) the expiration of 12 months from the date of Your 
transfer. No interest shall be paid to Resident on the refunded amount. If 
the then current Entrance Fee for Your new Residence exceeds the Entrance 
Fee originally paid by You, You shall pay, prior to the transfer, an amount 
equal to the difference between the Entrance Fee paid by You for Your old 
Residence and the Entrance Fee currently being charged for Your new 
Residence (under the refund plan selected in Exhibit A and this type of 
residency agreement). For purposes of Section G.4, any additional Entrance 
Fee shall be deemed paid on the original Occupancy Date. 

5. In a move initiated by You, You will be responsible for costs associated with the 
move. When transferring from the Residence, You will be charged with the actual 
costs of making all repairs to renovate Your old Residence, including the 
replacement of damaged appliances or fixtures or those showing signs of excessive 
wear and tear that We deem necessary for new occupancy. 

K. REASSIGNMENT OF RESIDENCE BY US 

We may reassign Your Residence to a different resident upon the occurrence of any of the 
following: 

1. This Agreement is rescinded or terminated. 

2. Resident is permanently transferred to another Residence as provided in Section J. 

3. Resident requires financial assistance. 

4. The Resident ( or last remaining Joint Resident) is admitted permanently to the 
Assisted Living Center, the Memory Support Center, or the Nursing Facility. 
Should the Resident recover sufficiently to resume Independent Living at a later 
date, the first available unreserved independent living unit similar to Resident's 
previous residence will be provided. A Resident who resides in Assisted Living 
Center or Nursing Facility on a temporary basis (less than 90 days) will retain 
possession, rights and privileges for use of the Residence during that period, 
without incurring additional monthly fees. 

L. DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY 

Upon termination of this Agreement or the permanent transfer of the Resident ( or the last 
Joint Resident), You or Your estate must remove all of Your property from the Residence 
within 30 days. All property not claimed at the end of such 30 day period shall become 
Our property and We may choose to dispose of it as We may elect without liability to You, 
Your representative or estate. Any charges or expenses as reasonably calculated incurred 

Covenant Woods Lifecare Contract(vl9) effective October l, 2025 

13 



by Us in removing property from your unit and storing it shall be an additional fee due 
under this agreement and payable by you or your estate. 

M. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

It is Our policy, subject to the availability of funds and prudent financial management, 
including maintenance of reserves, to provide financial assistance to residents who are 
otherwise in compliance with their obligations to Us and who provide appropriate 
information to Us to justify such financial assistance and to evidence that the need for such 
assistance has resulted from financial reverses over which the resident had no control or 
the normal depletion of the resident's assets over time. Financial assistance will be granted 
under policies established by Us from time to time, including relocation to a different 
residence. All decisions as to financial assistance shall be made by Us in Our sole 
discretion and subject to determination by Us that such assistance can be provided without 
impairing Our ability to carry out Our operations and obligations to the Community's 
residents, currently or in the future, while operating on a sound financial basis with 
appropriate reserves. 

N. CHANGE IN PERSONAL RELATIONSHIPS AFTER ESTABLISHING 
RESIDENCY 

1. With Our prior written approval You may move into another resident's residence 
or have another resident move into Your Residence or together with another 
resident move into a different residence. You will be required to enter into a new 
or amended Residency Agreement upon such terms and conditions as agreed upon 
by Us, You and the other resident. Your Monthly Service Fee will include an 
Additional Person Fee and will be assessed in accordance with the then current fee 
schedule for new residents under the applicable type of agreement. We will 
determine, in Our sole discretion, the amount of any additional Entrance Fee due 
or any refund or credit of such fee which may be appropriate to the new residence. 

2. If You marry a non-resident, and Your spouse desires to reside with You in Your 
Residence, Your spouse must submit an Application for Residency and both You 
and Your spouse must submit a then current financial report. If Your spouse is 
accepted for residency under a lifecare agreement, You and Your spouse must prior 
to the spouse's admittance execute a Joint Residency Agreement and pay the 
applicable Additional Person Entrance Fee as established by the then current 
Covenant Woods fee schedule. If You decide to move to a different Residence in 
connection with Your spouse joining You, Your original Entrance Fee will be 
adjusted in accordance with Section J. and in addition You and Your spouse shall 
pay the applicable Additional Person Entrance Fee. For purposes of Section G.4. 
the Additional Person Entrance Fee shall be deemed paid on Resident's original 
Occupancy Date. You and Your spouse will be treated in all respects as Joint 
Residents and shall, starting with the month Your spouse moves into Covenant 
Woods, pay the Monthly Service Fee for double occupancy, with the Additional 
Person Fee pro-rated if applicable. The Monthly Service Fee shall be based on the 
then current fee schedule for new residents. If Your spouse is not accepted for 
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3. 

residency under a lifecare agreement, Your spouse may apply for residency under 
one of the other contract forms, if any, then offered by Us, and if accepted enter 
into a separate contract with Us. Also, if You at the time of Your marriage to a 
non-resident permanently reside in Health and Wellness Care, Your spouse must 
apply for residency under one of Our contract forms, and if accepted enter into a 
separate contract with Us. You acknowledge that We cannot guarantee that Your 
spouse will be admitted. If Your spouse is not accepted for residency, Resident's 
Residency Agreement shall remain effective unless terminated by Resident. If 
Your spouse is accepted under a different contract form but will reside with You, 
You shall execute an addendum to this Agreement reflecting the terms and 
conditions for such joint residency as agreed upon by You and Us. 

If You want to reside together with a non-resident ( other than a spouse) in the 
Residence, such person, who must be 62 years or older, shall submit an Application 
for Residency and both You and the non-resident must submit a then current 
financial report. If the non-resident (the "Second Resident") is accepted for 
residency, the Second Resident shall prior to admittance execute the applicable 
residency agreement and You shall execute an Addendum to this agreement, such 
agreement and addendum reflecting the terms and conditions for the new joint 
residency as agreed upon by Us, You and the Second Resident. In addition, the 
Second Resident shall prior to admittance pay an entrance fee equal to the first 
person entrance fee for the least expensive independent living unit at Covenant 
Woods applicable to new residents under the relevant type of residency agreement. 
If You decide to move to a different Residence in connection with the Second 
Resident joining You, Your Entrance Fee will be adjusted in accordance with 
Section J. and in addition You and the Second Resident shall pay the additional 
entrance fee pursuant to the preceding sentence. Starting with the month the 
Second Resident moves into Covenant Woods, You and the Second Resident shall 
pay a Monthly Service Fee including a Second Resident fee equal to the single 
person monthly service fee for the least expensive independent living unit at 
Covenant Woods, such fees being based on the then current fee schedule for new 
residents. You and the Second Resident shall be jointly and severally liable for the 
payment of the Monthly Service Fee and all other amounts required to be paid to 
Us pursuant to Your and the Second Resident's Agreements. If the Second Resident 
remains in the Community after Resident's death or termination of residency, the 
Second Resident will be charged the first person fee for the Residence. 

0. RESIDENT'S RIGHTS TO PROPERTY 

The rights and privileges granted to You by this Agreement do not include any leasehold 
rights or interests and do not include right title or interest in any part of the personal 
property, land, buildings or improvements owned or administered by Us. Your rights are 
primarily for services, with a contractual right of residency. Any rights, privileges or 
benefits under this Agreement or any interest or contractual rights of any nature in the 
Community, including the right of any refund of the Entrance Fee or other payments 
hereunder, are and shall be subordinate in priority, right, claim and interest to any lien, 
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charge or security agreement now or hereafter placed on or affecting Covenant Woods or 
any interest in Our real property or personal property, and to any amendment, modification, 
replacement or refinancing of any mortgage, deed of trust or security agreement. Resident 
shall execute and deliver any documents reasonably required by Us or by the holder of any 
mortgage, deed of trust or other security agreement to evidence or effect such 
subordination. Your rights under this Agreement shall not inure to the use or benefit of 
Your heirs, next of kin, assigns or representatives or Your estate. 

P. INCAPACITY; POWER OF ATTORNEY 

You agree to execute a valid power of attorney designating a bank or responsible person 
selected by You to act in Your behalf in the event You may become unable to handle Your 
affairs and to deliver a copy of such power of attorney to Us prior to the Occupancy Date. 
You agree to maintain such power of attorney at all times and to notify Us of any changes 
or substitutions. The power of attorney must be in a form that survives Your incapacity or 
disability and is otherwise satisfactory to Us. We must be informed immediately when a 
third party assumes responsibility for managing Your financial affairs. 

Q. RIGHT OF ENTRY 

We and Our authorized employees and agents have the right to enter the Residence under 
certain circumstances. Such right of entry includes, but is not limited to, entry for 
inspection, maintenance and housekeeping, concern for Your or other residents' safety and 
in response to the fire alarm or any other emergency. Whenever possible, We will give 
You prior notice that We will enter the Residence. 

R. LOSS OR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY OR PERSON 

1. You agree that We shall not be responsible for the loss or damage of any property 
belonging to You (including property stored in the Community's storage facilities) 
due to any cause, unless We have been grossly negligent and such negligence 
caused the loss or damage. We assume no responsibility for, and any injury to 
Resident or damage or loss to Resident's property caused by the negligence or 
misconduct of another resident or any guest of another resident. We do not have 
an insurable interest in the personal property of Resident and Resident is 
encouraged to obtain insurance at Resident's expense to protect against such losses. 

2. You agree to reimburse Us for any costs incurred or damages suffered by Us and 
Our residents, employees and guests resulting from the carelessness, negligence or 
wrongful acts of You or Your guests. 

3. You hereby release Us from liability for Your death, injury to Your person or injury 
to property caused by any fire, theft, assault or other cause beyond the control of 
Us and from any liability resulting from the negligence or wrongful actions of other 
residents. You further waive any claim that You, Your representative or estate may 
have against Us arising therefrom. 
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S. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, including Exhibit A and any and all Addenda hereto, including the 
resident handbook as updated from time to time, and the Application for Residency 
(consisting of confidential health, personal and financial information), contains the entire 
agreement between the parties hereto; and no amendment or special provision is valid 
unless contained in a writing executed by all Residents who are parties hereto and by the 
President of Covenant Woods. 

T. SEVERABILITY 

Except as otherwise specifically provided, the invalidity or amendment of any restriction, 
condition or other provision of this Agreement, or of any part thereof, shall not impair or 
affect in any way the validity or enforceability of, or affect the rest of this Agreement. 

U. GOVERNING LAW 

This Agreement shall be governed and construed, in all respects, in accordance with the 
laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

~ COSTSANDFEES 

In the event that We incur costs and/or attorney fees to enforce Resident's obligations under 
this Agreement, Resident shall reimburse Us those costs and reasonable attorney fees. If 
Resident or anyone acting as Resident's legal representative institutes any litigation, 
arbitration or other proceeding against Us, Resident shall pay Us the reasonable costs and 
expenses (including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney's fees) incurred by Us in 
connection with any such proceeding so long as We are not found liable in such proceeding. 

W. FORCE MAJEURE 

The obligations of Us hereunder are subject to the limitation that, if by reason of force 
majeure, We are unable in whole or part to perform such obligations, We shall not be 
required to do so; provided, however, that We shall undertake in the event of the occurrence 
of events constituting force majeure to resume meeting all of Our obligations as promptly 
as is reasonable possible. "Force majeure" shall have the meaning applied to it in 
commercial contracts in the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

X. ARBITRATION 

Any dispute, controversy, or claim arising under, out of, in connection with, or relating to 
this Agreement shall be finally settled by arbitration in accordance with the rules of the 
American Arbitration Association and Virginia law then in effect. A party shall make a 
demand for arbitration within a reasonable time after the dispute, controversy, or claim 
arises, but in no event later than one ( 1) year from when the complaining party knew or 
should have known of the dispute, controversy, or claim. Any arbitration shall be held in 
Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall bear its own costs and expenses incurred in 
arbitrating the dispute, controversy, or claim. Any award rendered will be final and binding 
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on each of the parties to the arbitration and their personal representatives. Judgment may 
be entered on such award in any court of competent jurisdiction. 

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank.] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Covenant Woods has caused this Agreement to be executed and 
Resident(s) has/have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written: 

COVENANT WOODS 

By: ___________ _ 

Title: ------------

RESIDENT(S) 

By signing below, I/we attest that I/we have been given the following documents and have been 
given the opportunity to discuss any features of these documents that may have been unclear. 

Date: 

1. Disclosure Statement (at least three days prior to the execution of the Residency 
Agreement). 

2. Resident Handbook. 

Resident Resident 
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EXHIBIT A 

SPECIAL TERMS TO LIFECARE RESIDENCY AGREEMENT 

Name(s) of Resident: _________________________ _ 

Reserved Residence : 

Occupancy Date: ___________________________ _ 

Entrance Fee: Basic Fee 

Administrative Fee 

$ ______________ _ 

8% of Entrance Fee (deducted from Entrance 
Fee) 

Additional Person Fee (if applicable) _______________ _ 

Upgrades 

Lot Upgrade 

Special Incentive 

Total $ ----------------
I 0% Entrance Fee Deposit: $ _________ ($"'------=le-=ss~re=s"""er"""'v"""a=ti=o=n"""'fi"""'ee=-o=f=-$=---__._) 

Balance due prior to Occupancy Date: $ _________________ _ 

Selected Entrance Fee: _____ Declining Refund Entrance Fee 

50% Guaranteed Refund Entrance Fee -----
90% Guaranteed Refund Entrance Fee -----

Monthly Service Fee1: Basic Fee $ ----------
Additional Person Fee (if applicable) _________ _ 

Total $ ----------

Special Provisions: ___________________________ _ 

1 Subject to change. 
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Dated: _____ , 20_ 

COVENANT WOODS 

By: ______________ _ 

Title: ----------------

By: _____________ _ 
Resident 

By: ______________ _ 
Resident 
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APPENDIX C: 2 

FEE FOR SERVICE RESIDENCY AGREEMENT 



COVENANT WOODS 

CONTINUING CARE RESIDENCY AGREEMENT 
(Fee For Service) 
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COVENANT WOODS 

CONTINUING CARE RESIDENCY AGREEMENT 
(Fee For Service) 

THIS AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into this __ day of ____ , by 
and between 
(collectively referred to as the "Resident," "Joint Resident(s)," "You" or "Your") and 
COVENANT WOODS ("Our," "We" or "Us"), a Virginia non-stock not-for-profit corporation, 
operating Covenant Woods, a continuing care retirement community ("Community" or 
"Covenant Woods"). 

We have accepted Your application for residence in the Community subject to the provisions of 
this Agreement. 

A. SERVICES PROVIDED 

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, We will provide You the facilities 
and services specified in this Agreement from the Occupancy Date (as defined in Section 
C.2) until the earlier termination of this Agreement. This Agreement is a certification to 
You that We are properly licensed to provide You care as provided herein. 

You agree to comply with the terms of this Agreement and to abide by Covenant Woods' 
Resident Handbook, policies, rules and regulations as current and in effect at any time 
("Community Policies"), including any rules reasonably promulgated especially for either 
You or a limited group of residents or otherwise agreed to by You as a condition of 
continuing residence. 

You shall disclose to Us immediately any material change in Your physical, mental or 
financial condition (including any change in Your long-tenn care insurance) prior to 
establishing residency; and this obligation to disclose shall continue throughout Your 
residency. You shall provide financial statements and tax returns at Our request. 

8. JOINT RESIDENCY 

If there are two persons named above as Resident, this is a Joint Residency Agreement. If 
this Agreement is terminated with respect to one of the Joint Residents, the Agreement will 
remain in effect with respect to the remaining Resident unless otherwise stated in this 
Agreement. For Joint Residents the Entrance Fee and the Monthly Service Fee due under 
this Agreement shall include an Additional Person Fee. Each Joint Resident is jointly and 
severally liable for the payment of the Entrance Fee, the Monthly Service Fee, the Daily 
Fee for Health and Wellness Care (as defined in Section D.3) and all other amounts 
required to be paid to the ·Corporation pursuant to this Agreement. 
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C. RESIDENCE; OCCUPANCY DATE 

1. Residence 

The Residence selected by Resident is set forth in Exhibit A (the "Residence"). 
You will have a personal, non-assignable right to reside in the Residence, subject 
to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including a change in 
accommodations as hereinafter provided. 

You may have pets in Your Residence only in accordance with Our established pet 
policy. 

2. Occupancy Date 

D. FEES 

"Occupancy Date" means the date provided in the Fee For Service Continuing Care 
Residency Agreement (whether or not Resident actually occupies the Residence on 
such date), or such other date as may be agreed to by the parties in writing. 

If Resident does not occupy the Residence within 90 days of the execution of this 
Agreement, We may require Resident, prior to occupancy, to submit additional 
financial and health information and undergo an additional health care examination 
to determine if the Resident is able to live independently in the Residence without 
special assistance or services not normally provided by Us in such residence. 
Resident recognizes Our exclusive right to determine whether Resident qualifies 
for independent living. 

Resident shall pay the following fees: 

1. Entrance Fee 

a. The Resident agrees to pay the Entrance Fee set forth in Exhibit A. An 
Administrative Fee equal to 8% of the Entrance Fee shall be assessed 
against the Entrance Fee. Any refund of the Entrance Fee and 
Administrative Fee shall be governed by Section G of this Agreement. 

b. If the Residence is currently ready for occupancy by Resident, You shall 
pay the full amount of the Entrance Fee to Us when You sign this 
Agreement and return it to Us, or on such later date as agreed to by Us as 
set forth in Exhibit A. If the Residence is not ready for occupancy on the 
date hereof, the Entrance Fee shall be payable as follows: 

(i) A deposit equal to 10% of the Entrance Fee, less any previously paid 
reservation fee, as set forth in Exhibit A, is due when You sign the 
Reservation Agreement. 

(ii) The remaining balance is due on or before the Occupancy Date. 
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2. Monthly Service Fee 

a. 

b. 

C. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

You agree to pay to Us each month, starting with the month of the 
Occupancy Date, the Monthly Service Fee applicable to the Residence 
based on the numbers of Residents. The Monthly Service Fee shall be 
prorated for the first month according to the number of days remaining in 
the calendar month following Occupancy Date. 

The first Monthly Service Fee is due on the Occupancy Date. The Monthly 
Service Fee is thereafter payable in advance on the first day of each calendar 
month. If it is not paid within 7 days after You have been billed, We may 
levy a late charge of 5% of the amount due. Resident also shall pay interest 
at the rate of 10% per annum on any amount which is not paid within 30 
days after the billing statement reflecting such amount is mailed or 
presented to Resident. 

The Monthly Service Fee is payable whether or not You actually occupy 
the Residence. If You are permanently admitted to Health and Wellness 
Care, the Monthly Service Fee will change to the Daily Fee described in 
Section D.3.b., provided, however, that if this is a Joint Residency 
Agreement and one of the Joint Residents remains in the Residence, 
Resident will be charged the Monthly Service Fee (adjusted as set forth in 
d. below) and the applicable Daily Fee. 

If this is a Joint Residency Agreement and the Agreement is terminated with 
respect to one of the Joint Residents or one of the Joint Residents moves 
permanently to Health and Wellness Care, the Monthly Service Fee will be 
reduced by the then current Additional Person Fee, effective the month 
following the date of termination or transfer. 

We may adjust the Monthly Service Fee and the Daily Fee from time to 
time, in Our sole discretion, with 30 days advance written notice to You. 
We will endeavor to maintain the Monthly Service Fee at the lowest 
possible rate based on actual costs and consistent with sound financial 
practice, including the maintenance of reserves, and maintenance of the 
scope of services called for by this Agreement. 

Resident acknowledges that there may be different fee schedules in effect 
for the Community's residents and that other residents may pay a lower 
Monthly Service Fee for a residence similar to Resident's Residence. 
Resident further acknowledges that We may provide residence and care at 
the Community under other types of agreements. 

3. Daily Fee for Health and Wellness Care 

a. If Resident transfers to the Assisted Living Center, the Memory Support 
Center or the Nursing Facility ("Health and Wellness Care") on a 
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temporary basis, Resident shall pay, in addition to the Monthly Service Fee, 
the Daily Fee in effect from time to time for such level of living. The Daily 
Fee shall be billed and payable as provided in Section D.4. 

b. If Resident transfers to Health and Wellness Care on a permanent basis, 
Resident shall pay the Daily Fee in effect from time to time for the relevant 
level of living. Such fee shall be payable in advance as provided in Section 
D.2.b. and may be adjusted as provided in Section D.2.e. 

If this is a Joint Residency Agreement, upon the second Joint Resident being 
transferred to Health and Wellness Care on a permanent basis, each Joint 
Resident shall be charged the applicable Daily Fee. 

4. Other Services 

You will be billed monthly, in arrears, for any services and supplies provided by 
Us, but not included in the Monthly Service Fee. The bills are due within 5 days 
of receipt. If payment is not made within 7 days after the date due, We may levy a 
late charge of 5% of the amount due. Resident also shall pay interest at the rate of 
I 0% per annum on any amount which is not paid within 30 days after the billing 
statement reflecting such amount is mailed or presented to Resident. 

5. Charges for care paid in one lump sum shall not be increased or changed during the 
duration of the agreed upon care, except for changes required by state or federal 
assistance programs. 

E. RESCISSION OR TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT BEFORE 
OCCUPANCY DATE 

1. Voluntary Rescission within 7 days 

You have the right to rescind this Agreement without penalty or forfeiture by 
delivering written notice to Us within 7 days after the last to occur of the following: 

a. making the initial Entrance Fee Deposit, or 

b. signing this Agreement, 

If You rescind the Agreement within that 7-day period for any reason, You will 
receive a refund of any Entrance Fee paid pursuant to Section G. l. You are not 
required to move in during the 7-day period. If this is a Joint Residency Agreement, 
and one Joint Resident rescinds within the 7-day period for any reason, the 
Agreement will be deemed terminated as to both Residents. 

2. Voluntary Termination prior to Occupancy Date 

After the 7-day period described in Section E.1 .. but prior to the Occupancy Date, 
You may terminate this Agreement with immediate effect by delivering written 
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notice of termination to Us. You will receive a refund of any Entrance Fee paid 
pursuant to Section G.2. If this is a Joint Residency Agreement, and only one of 
the Joint Residents terminates the Agreement pursuant to this section, the 
Agreement will be deemed terminated as to both Residents. 

3. Termination upon Death 

If Resident dies prior to the Occupancy Date, this Agreement shall be considered 
automatically terminated. Refund of any paid Entrance Fee shall be paid in 
accordance with Section G.3. If this is a Joint Residency Agreement, the 
Agreement will be deemed terminated as to both Residents. 

4. Termination upon Material Change in Physical, Mental or Financial Condition 

If, after the 7-day period described above but prior to the Occupancy Date, You 
become incapacitated physically or mentally to the degree that You may no longer 
qualify for Independent Living or Your financial condition has materially 
deteriorated in comparison to the information submitted as part of Your Application 
for Residency (including information regarding Your long-term care insurance), 
You, whether a Resident or a Joint Resident, or Your representative shall 
immediately notify Us of the occurrence and nature of such incapacitation. If, in 
Our exclusive opinion, the Resident prior to the Occupancy Date has become 
unable to enter the Community in Independent Living under this contract form due 
to illness, injury or incapacity or change in financial condition, We shall notify the 
Resident and this Agreement shall be considered automatically terminated. Refund 
of any paid Entrance Fee shall be paid in accordance with Section G.3. If this is a 
Joint Residency Agreement, the Agreement will be deemed terminated as to both 
Residents. 

F. TERMINATION OF RESIDENCY AGREEMENT AFTER OCCUPANCY DATE 

I . Death of a Resident 

If not a Joint Residency Agreement, this Agreement shall terminate at the earlier of 
(i) 30 days after the date of Resident's death, or (ii) the removal of all of the 
deceased Resident's personal property from the Community. The monthly service 
fee will continue to be in effect until this agreement is terminated. If this is a Joint 
Residency Agreement, this Agreement shall remain effective with respect to the 
surviving Joint Resident (see also Section G.6.). 

2. Termination by Resident 

You may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving Us written notice. The 
Agreement shall terminate (the "Termination Date") at the later of (i) the date that 
is 180 days after Our receipt of Your written notice of termination, (ii) the date that 
You, in fact, vacate Your Residence and (iii) the date all personal property of the 
Resident has been removed from the Community. If this is a Joint Residency 
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Agreement, and only one Resident gives a notice of termination, this Agreement 
shall remain effective with respect to the other Resident. 

3. Termination by Covenant Woods 

We shall not terminate this Agreement except for Good Cause. "Good Cause" 
means a determination by Us that one or more of the following statements are true: 
(i) You are a danger to Yourself or others; (ii) You have failed to pay fees that are 
due to Us; (iii) You have repeatedly engaged in conduct that interferes with other 
Residents' quiet enjoyment of Covenant Woods; (iv) You have persistently refused 
to comply with reasonable written rules and regulations of Covenant Woods; (v) 
You made a material misrepresentation, either intentionally or recklessly, in Your 
Application for Residency, or related materials (including Your long-term care 
insurance), regarding information which, if accurately provided, would have 
resulted in either Your failure to qualify for Residency or a material increase in the 
cost of providing to You the care and services provided under this Agreement; or 
( vi) You have committed a material breach of the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement. We shall not terminate this Agreement until We have given You 
written notice stating the grounds of termination and a reasonable period of time 
for cure. The effective date of such termination shall be stated in the written notice. 
In the case of Joint Residents, this termination can apply to both Residents or to 
only one Resident; if the termination applies to only one Resident, this Agreement 
shall remain effective with respect to the other Resident. 

G. REFUNDS 

Any refunds due to You under this Agreement shall be made according to the provisions 
of this Section and in certain events Sections J and N. 

1. Rescission Within 7 Days prior to Occupancy Date 

If You rescind this Agreement in accordance with Section E. l ., You will receive a 
full refund within 30 days of the date of rescission of any paid Entrance Fee and 
other sums paid to Us, less any costs specifically incurred by Us at Your request 
according to a written amendment to this Agreement or Special Provisions set forth 
in Exhibit A. No interest shall be paid to Resident on the refunded amounts. 

2. Voluntary Termination prior to Occupancy Date 

If You terminate this Agreement in accordance with Section E.2., You will receive 
a refund within 30 days of the date of termination of any paid Entrance Fee and 
other sums paid to Us, less (i) an administrative fee of I 0% of deposit paid, and 
(ii) any costs specifically incurred by Us at Your request according to a written 
amendment to this Agreement or Special Provisions set forth in Exhibit A. No 
interest shall be paid to Resident on the refunded amounts. 
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3. Termination upon Death or Incapacity prior to Occupancy Date 

If this Agreement is terminated because of death or incapacity, as described in 
Sections E.3. and E.4., You or Your estate will receive a full refund within 30 days 
of the date of termination of any paid Entrance Fee and other sums paid to Us, less 
any costs specifically incurred by Us at Your request according to a written 
amendment to this Agreement or Special Provisions set forth in Exhibit A. No 
interest shall be paid to Resident on the refunded amounts. 

4. Termination After Occupancy Date 

a. A portion of the Entrance Fee paid will be refunded if You move from 
Covenant Woods and terminate this Agreement prior to complete 
amortization. The refund will be an amount equal to the Entrance Fee paid 
less the 8% Administrative Fee deducted from the Entrance Fee and less 
than 2% of the Entrance Fee paid for each full or partial month ofresidency 
(the period between the Occupancy Date and the date this Agreement is 
terminated) until the balance is $0. Any refund provided for under this 
Section G.4 of the Agreement shall not include refund of the Administrative 
Fee. Any unpaid charges will be deducted from the refund. We may deduct 
the full amount of financial assistance, including interest, from the refund. 

b. Any required refund shall be paid to You or Your estate upon the earlier to 
occur of (i) the execution of a new Residency Agreement by another 
Resident for Your Residence and (ii) the expiration of 12 months from the 
date of termination. No interest shall be paid to Resident on the refunded 
amounts. 

5. Monthly Service Fee and Daily Fee 

In the event of Your death or termination by Us, You or Your estate shall receive a 
refund of a pro rata portion, if any, of the Monthly Service Fee or the Daily Fee, as 
the case may be, paid for the month termination occurs. 

In the event of termination by You, the Monthly Service Fee or the Daily Fee, as 
the case may be, will be due until the Termination Date determined pursuant to 
Section F.2. You shall receive a refund of a pro rata portion, if any, of the Monthly 
Service Fee or the Daily Fee, as the case may be, paid for the month of the 
Termination Date. 

Any refund of the Monthly Service Fee will be paid as provided in sub-section 
(4)(d) above. 

6. Joint Residents 

If this is a Joint Residency Agreement there shall be no refund of the paid Entrance 
Fee until both Joint Residents cease to be Residents of the Community. Any refund 
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shall be paid to the estate of the last surviving Joint Resident, or to the last Joint 
Resident who resided at the Community. 

If this Agreement is terminated with respect to one of the Joint Residents, there 
shall be no refund of the Monthly Service Fee. The Monthly Service Fee will be 
reduced by the then current Additional Person Fee effective the month following 
the termination. If this Agreement is terminated with respect to a Joint Resident 
who has permanently transferred to Health and Wellness Care, We will refund a 
pro rata portion, if any, of the Daily Fee paid for the month of the Termination Date. 

H. SERVICES TO RESIDENTS 

The Monthly Service Fee includes access to amenities and certain services. Other services 
may be available for an additional charge. Except for changes required by state or federal 
assistance programs, We will notify Resident of any proposed change in the scope of care 
or services provided by Us at least 30 days before such change is effective. 

1. Services currently included in the Monthly Service Fee: 

a. Basic housekeeping bi-weekly. 

b. Real estate taxes and utilities (electricity, water, natural gas, sewer, and 
refuse), subject to availability to Covenant Woods by the providers thereof. 

c. Cable/Satellite T.V. hook-up availability (but not cable/satellite services), 
washer and dryer, stove, dishwasher, refrigerator, and microwave. 

d. Maintenance of Residence and grounds. 

e. Transportation in accordance with the Community Policies. 

f. The Community's Wellness Program. 

g. Security consisting of monitoring of the premises by security personnel and 
cameras, and limited access to the Community. 

h. Emergency call system. 

1. Use of common area facilities. 

J. Maintenance of appliances furnished by Us. 

k. Parking in accordance with the Community's parking regulations from time 
to time. 

2. Additional Services currently available in Independent Living at extra cost: 

a. Additional housekeeping. 
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b. Cable/Satellite internet and television, subject to availability to Covenant 
Woods by the providers thereof. 

c. Extra transportation services as provided in the Community Policies. 

d. Special activities. 

e. Spa & Salon services. 

f. Occupational, physical and speech therapy. 

g. Telephone service. 

h. Other services as are made available from time to time. 

3. Subject to availability and payment of the applicable fees, We will provide the 
following Health and Wellness Care after consultation with the Inter-Disciplinary 
Care Team, with You, Your family, and/or Your physicians: 

a. Assisted Living Services and Care 

The Assisted Living Center is designed for those who are unable to function 
independently in an independent living unit, but do not need continuous medical 
supervision. Assisted Living residents receive those services listed in Section H.1. 
and receive help in dressing, self-care and other activities of daily living; assistance 
in attending meals; increased assistance in housekeeping; increased monitoring of 
personal status; monitoring of medications; and bath and bed linens. If You are a 
Resident of the Assisted Living Center, Your Daily Fee will include all normal and 
routine services associated with a licensed assisted living facility. 

b. Memory Support Services and Care 

Memory Support Residents receive those services listed in Section H.J. and receive 
help in dressing, self-care and other activities of daily living; assistance in attending 
meals; increased assistance in housekeeping; increased monitoring of personal 
status; monitoring of medications; and bath and bed linens. 

c. Nursing Facility Services and Care 

Residents of the Nursing Facility receive those services listed in Section H.J. 
commensurate with their condition and other care varying with their needs, the 
highest level of which is total nursing bed care in accordance with the Rules and 
Regulations for Licensed Nursing Homes promulgated by the Virginia Department 
of Health. If You are a Resident of the Nursing Facility, Your Daily Fee will 
include all normal and routine services associated with a licensed nursing facility. 
If, in Our exclusive opinion, after consultation with the Inter-Disciplinary Care 
Team, and/or Your physician, You require care that cannot be given at Covenant 
Woods, for example, because You have a dangerously contagious disease, You 
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require specialized psychiatric care, or You have any other condition requiring 
services prohibited under the license of the Nursing Facility, We will assist You in 
transferring to an appropriate facility and You will be responsible for all costs 
associated with care at such facility. See further Section J.2. 

4. We shall not be responsible for the cost of any services to the extent that benefits 
are payable for such services under Medicare and Medicare Supplement policies, 
or the equivalent. You must, upon request, take such action and execute such forms 
as are necessary to secure reimbursement to Us of any amounts payable for services 
that can be compensated for in whole or in part by such sources. 

Resident is responsible for payment of all health related services not expressly 
covered by the fees charged pursuant to this Agreement. Examples of charges for 
which You are responsible include but are not limited to: private duty nursing care, 
services rendered by a clinic, physician, or other practitioner of any therapeutic or 
palliative art or profession; services rendered by a hospital, rehabilitation facility or 
laboratory; medications and medical supplies; appliance, equipment, or other aids 
to modify the effects of handicapping conditions, and other health related items. 

Home health agencies and private duty advisors contracted by Resident must be 
approved by Us and must be licensed and bonded. Resident is responsible for 
payment of such agency's services directly to the agency. 

5. You are required to carry Medicare Insurance Parts A and B and a Medicare 
Supplement, or the equivalent of such coverage, acceptable to Us in Our sole 
discretion. You are required to provide evidence of such insurance coverage prior 
to your Occupancy Date and thereafter upon Our request. 

I. RESIDENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

I. Housekeeping 

Resident will be responsible for maintaining the Residence in a clean, sanitary and 
orderly condition, performing all usual light housekeeping tasks as necessary 
between housekeeping services provided by Us. We reserve the right to inspect 
Your Residence, after proper notice to You. If You fail to maintain Your 
Residence as required above, We may charge You for housekeeping services 
required to maintain Your Residence in a clean, sanitary and orderly condition. 

2. Guests 

You are permitted to have guests in the Residence, subject to the rules and 
regulations set forth in the Community Policies. You will be responsible for the 
conduct of Your guests and for payment of any charges incurred by Your guests. 
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J. TRANSFER FROM YOUR RESIDENCE 

1. You agree that We may, in our exclusive discretion, transfer You on a permanent 
or temporary basis to a different Residence, to the Assisted Living Center, to the 
Memory Support Center, or to the Nursing Facility when We, after consultation 
with the Inter-Disciplinary Care Team, and after consultation with You, Your 
family and/or Your physician, determine that such a transfer is necessary for Your 
well-being or the safety of You or other residents. The Inter-Disciplinary Care 
Team typically includes a registered nurse, physician, dietician, social worker, 
activity coordinator and possibly other Covenant Woods Staff members. 

Although it is anticipated that bed space at the Assisted Living Center, the Memory 
Support Center and the Nursing Facility will be adequate to meet the demand for 
such space, We cannot guarantee the availability of bed space for the Health and 
Wellness Care. 

Should bed space for Health and Wellness Care not be available when needed, We 
will utilize Our best efforts to contract for nursing services to be provided by a 
licensed outside facility selected by Us. We will use Our best efforts to obtain for 
Resident a place in a facility which is comparable to the Health and Wellness Care. 
Resident shall be responsible for payment of all fees and expenses charged by the 
outside facility. If Resident is anticipated to need Health and Wellness Care on a 
temporary basis (less than 90 days) and the Residence is not vacated, Resident shall 
continue payment of the Monthly Service Fee to Us while staying at the outside 
facility. Any resident transferred to an outside facility will be returned to the 
Community as soon as the proper facilities are available in Health and Wellness 
Care, at which time Resident shall pay the fees provided in Section D.3. 

2. You agree that, if You suffer any disability for which We are not permitted, by 
regulation, or not equipped to safely provide care, We shall, in coordination with 
the Inter-Disciplinary Care Team, You, Your family and/or Your physician, assist 
in transferring You to an appropriate facility and You will be responsible for all 
costs associated with care at such facility. Unless Resident terminates this 
Agreement pursuant to Section F .2., Resident shall continue payment of the 
Monthly Service Fee or the Daily Fee, as applicable, during any period Resident is 
staying in another facility. 

3. We may transfer You, on reasonable notice, to a different Residence on a temporary 
or permanent basis in the event of special circumstances, such as the need for 
renovation or repair to Your Residence or the transfer of such space to a different 
use or configuration. We will incur all the costs of such move. 

4. You may transfer to another Residence within the Community's facility with Our 
prior written approval. If Your request is approved, You will have 24 hours to 
accept the Residence that We notify You in writing is available, and if You accept 
the Residence as Your Residence, We will determine and assess the amount of any 
additional Entrance Fee, or any refund or credit thereof, which is appropriate to 
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Your new Residence, as described below. Except as otherwise expressly stated in 
this Section J, no refund of the Entrance Fee shall be due upon such transfer. Your 
Monthly Service Fee shall become that which is applicable to Your new Residence 
( under the then current fee schedule for new residents under this type of residency 
agreement) effective the first month following the transfer. If You have not moved 
to Your new Residence and paid any additional amount due by the designated 
transfer date, Our approval of the requested transfer is revoked without further 
action. 

a. If the then current Entrance Fee for Your new Residence is less than the 
Entrance Fee originally paid by You, any refund of part of the Entrance Fee 
paid by You will be determined as follows: (1) 2% of the Entrance Fee paid 
for the old Residence shall be deducted from such Entrance Fee for each 
full or partial month from the Occupancy Date to the date of Your transfer, 
and (2) 2% of the then current Entrance Fee for the new Residence (based 
on this type of residency agreement) shall be deducted from such Entrance 
Fee for each full or partial month from the Occupancy Date to the date of 
Your transfer. If the net amount for Your new Residence is less than the 
net amount for the old Residence, You will be due a refund equal to the 
difference between the amounts. Any required refund shall be paid upon 
the earlier to occur of (i) the execution of a new Residency Agreement by 
another resident for Your old Residence and (ii) the expiration of 12 months 
from the date of Your transfer. No interest shall be paid to Resident on the 
refunded amount. 

b. If the then current Entrance Fee for Your new Residence exceeds the 
Entrance Fee originally paid by You, You shall pay, prior to the transfer, an 
amount equal to the difference between the Entrance Fee paid by You for 
Your old Residence and the Entrance Fee currently being charged for Your 
new Residence (under this type of residency agreement). For purposes of 
Section G.4, any additional Entrance Fee shall be deemed paid on the 
original Occupancy Date. 

5. In a move initiated by You, You will be responsible for costs associated with the 
move. When transferring from the Residence, You will be charged with the actual 
costs of making all repairs to renovate Your old Residence, including the 
replacement of damaged appliances or fixtures or those showing signs of excessive 
wear and tear that We deem necessary for new occupancy. 

K. REASSIGNMENT OF RESIDENCE BY US 

We may reassign Your Residence to a different resident upon the occurrence of any of the 
following: 

1. This Agreement is rescinded or terminated. 

2. Resident is permanently transferred to another Residence as provided in Section J. 
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3. The Resident (or last remaining Joint Resident) is admitted permanently to the 
Assisted Living Center, the Memory Support Center, or the Nursing Facility. 
Should the Resident recover sufficiently to resume Independent Living at a later 
date, the first available unreserved independent living unit similar to Resident's 
previous residence will be provided. Resident shall pay the Monthly Service Fee 
in effect from time to time for such unit for new residents under this type of 
residency agreement. Subject to payment of the Monthly Service Fee, Resident 
who uses the Assisted Living Center or Nursing Facility on a temporary basis (less 
than 90 days) will retain possession, rights and privileges for use of the Residence 
during that period. 

L. DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY 

Upon termination of this Agreement or the permanent transfer of the Resident (or the last 
Joint Resident), You or Your estate must remove all of Your property from the Residence 
within 15 days. After 15 days We have the right to remove any remaining property and 
store it for an additional 30 days for a moving and storage fee. All property not claimed at 
the end of such 30-day period shall become Our property and We may choose to dispose 
of it as We may elect without liability to You, Your representative or estate. Any charges 
or expenses as reasonably calculated incurred by Us in removing property from Your 
Residence and storing it shall be an additional fee due under this Agreement and payable 
by You or Your estate. 

M. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

It is Our policy, subject to the availability of funds and prudent financial management, 
including maintenance of reserves, to provide financial assistance to residents who are 
otherwise in compliance with their obligations to Us and who provide appropriate 
information to Us to justify such financial assistance and to evidence that the need for such 
assistance has resulted from financial reverses over which the resident had no control or 
the normal depletion of the resident's assets over time. Depleting reserves through paying 
for private duty or home health services in order to remain in Independent Living, for the 
purposes of this definition, does not qualify a resident for financial assistance. Financial 
assistance will be granted under policies established by Us from time to time. All decisions 
as to financial assistance shall be made by Us in Our sole discretion and subject to 
determination by Us that such assistance can be provided without impairing Our ability to 
carry out Our operations and obligations to the Community's residents, currently or in the 
future, while operating on a sound financial basis with appropriate reserves. 

N. CHANGE IN PERSONAL RELATIONSHIPS AFTER ESTABLISHING 
RESIDENCY 

I. With Our prior written approval You may move into another resident's residence 
or have another resident move into Your Residence or together with another 
resident move into a different residence. You will be required to enter into a new 
or amended Residency Agreement upon such terms and conditions as agreed upon 
by Us, You and the other resident. Your Monthly Service Fee will include an 
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Additional Person Fee and will be assessed in accordance with the then current fee 
schedule for new residents under the applicable type of agreement. We will 
determine, in Our sole discretion, the amount of any additional Entrance Fee due 
or any refund or credit of such fee which may be appropriate to the new residence. 

2. If You marry a non-resident, and Your spouse desires to reside with You in Your 
Residence, Your spouse must submit an Application for Residency and both You 
and Your spouse must submit a then current financial report. If Your spouse is 
accepted for residency under a continuing care residency agreement (fee for 
service), You and Your spouse must prior to the spouse's admittance execute a Joint 
Residency Agreement and pay the applicable Additional Person Entrance Fee as 
established by the then current Covenant Woods fee schedule. If You decide to 
move to a different Residence in connection with Your spouse joining You, Your 
original Entrance Fee will be adjusted in accordance with Section J. and in addition 
You and Your spouse shall pay the applicable Additional Person Entrance Fee. For 
purposes of Section G.4, the Additional Person Entrance Fee shall be deemed paid 
on Resident's original Occupancy Date. You and Your spouse will be treated in all 
respects as Joint Residents and shall, starting with the month Your spouse moves 
into Covenant Woods, pay the Monthly Service Fee for double occupancy, with the 
Additional Person Fee pro-rated if applicable. The Monthly Service Fee shall be 
based on the then current fee schedule for new residents. If Your spouse is not 
accepted for residency under a continuing care residency agreement ( fee for 
service), Your spouse may apply for residency under one of the other contract 
forms, if any, then offered by Us, and if accepted enter into a separate contract with 
Us. Also, if You at the time of Your marriage to a non-resident permanently reside 
in Health and Wellness Care, Your spouse must apply for residency under one of 
Our contract forms, and if accepted enter into a separate contract with Us. You 
acknowledge that We can not guarantee that Your spouse will be admitted. If Your 
spouse is not accepted for residency, Resident's Residency Agreement shall remain 
effective unless terminated as set forth in Section F. If Your spouse is accepted 
under a different contract form but will reside with You, You shall execute an 
addendum to this Agreement reflecting the terms and conditions for such joint 
residency as agreed upon by You and Us. 

3. If You want to reside together with a non-resident ( other than a spouse) in the 
Residence, such person, who must be 62 years or older, shall submit an Application 
for Residency and both You and the non-resident must submit a then current 
financial report. If the non-resident ( the "Second Resident") is accepted for 
residency, the Second Resident shall prior to admittance execute the applicable 
residency agreement and You shall execute an Addendum to this agreement, such 
agreement and addendum reflecting the terms and conditions for the new joint 
residency as agreed upon by Us, You and the Second Resident. In addition, the 
Second Resident shall prior to admittance pay an entrance fee equal to the first 
person entrance fee for the least expensive independent living unit at Covenant 
Woods applicable to new residents under the relevant type of residency agreement. 
If You decide to move to a different Residence in connection with the Second 
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Resident joining You, Your Entrance Fee will be adjusted in accordance with 
Section J. and in addition You and the Second Resident shall pay the additional 
entrance fee pursuant to the preceding sentence. Starting with the month the 
Second Resident moves into Covenant Woods, You and the Second Resident shall 
pay a Monthly Service Fee including a Second Resident fee equal to the single 
person monthly service fee for the least expensive independent living unit at 
Covenant Woods, such fees being based on the then current fee schedule for new 
residents. You and the Second Resident shall be jointly and severally liable for the 
payment of the Monthly Service Fee, the Daily Fee and all other amounts required 
to be paid to Us pursuant to Your and the Second Resident's Agreements. If the 
Second Resident remains in the Residence after Resident's death or termination of 
residency or permanent transfer to Health and Wellness Care, the Second Resident 
will be charged the first person fee for the Residence. 

0. RESIDENT'S RIGHTS TO PROPERTY 

The rights and privileges granted to You by this Agreement do not include any leasehold 
rights or interests and do not include right title or interest in any part of the personal 
property, land, buildings or improvements owned or administered by Us, nor to participate 
in the management of the community, such right rest solely with Us. Your rights are 
primarily for services, with a contractual right of residency. Any rights, privileges or 
benefits under this Agreement or any interest or contractual rights of any nature in the 
Community, including the right of any refund of the Entrance Fee or other payments 
hereunder, are and shall be subordinate in priority, right, claim and interest to any lien, 
charge or security agreement now or hereafter placed on or affecting Covenant Woods or 
any interest in Our real property or personal property, and to any amendment, modification, 
replacement or refinancing of any mortgage, deed of trust or security agreement. Resident 
shall execute and deliver any documents reasonably required by Us or by the holder of any 
mortgage, deed of trust or other security agreement to evidence or effect such 
subordination. Your rights under this Agreement shall not inure to the use or benefit of 
Your heirs, next of kin, assigns or representatives or Your estate. 

P. INCAPACITY; POWER OF ATTORNEY 

You agree to execute a valid power of attorney designating a bank or responsible person 
selected by You to act in Your behalf in the event You may become unable to handle Your 
affairs and to deliver a copy of such power of attorney to Us prior to the Occupancy Date. 
You agree to maintain such power of attorney at all times and to notify Us of any changes 
or substitutions. The power of attorney must be in a form that survives Your incapacity or 
disability and is otherwise satisfactory to Us. We must be informed immediately when a 
third party assumes responsibility for managing Your financial affairs. 

Q. RIGHT OF ENTRY 

We and Our authorized employees and agents have the right to enter the Residence under 
certain circumstances. Such right of entry includes, but is not limited to, entry for 
inspection, maintenance and housekeeping, concern for Your or other residents' safety and 
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in response to the fire alarm or any other emergency. Whenever possible, We will give 
You prior notice that We will enter the Residence. 

R. LOSS OR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY OR PERSON 

1. You agree that We shall not be responsible for the loss or damage of any property 
belonging to You (including property stored in the Community's storage facilities) 
due to any cause, unless We have been grossly negligent and such negligence 
caused the loss or damage. We assume no responsibility for, and any injury to 
Resident or damage or loss to Resident's property caused by the negligence or 
misconduct of another resident or any guest of another resident. We do not have 
an insurable interest in the personal property of Resident and Resident is 
encouraged to obtain insurance at Resident's expense to protect against such losses. 

2. You agree to reimburse Us for any costs incurred or damages suffered by Us and 
Our residents, employees and guests resulting from the carelessness, negligence or 
wrongful acts of You or Your guests. 

3. You hereby release Us from liability for Your death, injury to Your person or injury 
to property caused by any fire, theft, assault or other cause beyond the control of 
Us and from any liability resulting from the negligence or "WTongful actions of other 
residents. You further waive any claim that You, Your representative or estate may 
have against Us arising therefrom. 

S. NONDISCRIMINATION 

We do not discriminate based on factors of race, religion, sex, national origin, or disability. 
These factors do not have any bearing upon Your acceptance or rejection for residency, the 
execution of this Agreement, or Our normal conduct of business. 

T. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, including Exhibit A and any and all Addenda hereto and the Application 
for Residency ( consisting of confidential health, personal and financial information), 
contains the entire agreement between the parties hereto; and no amendment or special 
provision is valid unless contained in a writing executed by all Residents who are parties 
hereto and by the President of Covenant Woods. 

U. SEVERABILITY 

Except as otherwise specifically provided, the invalidity or amendment of any restriction, 
condition or other provision of this Agreement, or of any part thereof, shall not impair or 
affect in any way the validity or enforceability of, or affect the rest of this Agreement. 

V. GOVERNING LAW 

This Agreement shall be governed and construed, in all respects, in accordance with the 
laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
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W. COSTS AND FEES 

In the event that We incur costs and/or attorney fees to enforce Resident's obligations under 
this Agreement, Resident shall reimburse Us those costs and reasonable attorney fees. If 
Resident or anyone acting as Resident's legal representative institutes any litigation, 
arbitration or other proceeding against Us, Resident shall pay Us the reasonable costs and 
expenses (including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney's fees) incurred by Us in 
connection with any such proceeding so long as We are not found liable in such proceeding. 

X. FORCE MAJEURE 

The obligations of Us hereunder are subject to the limitation that, if by reason of force 
majeure, We are unable in whole or part to perform such obligations, We shall not be 
required to do so; provided, however, that We shall undertake in the event of the occurrence 
of events constituting force majeure to resume meeting all of Our obligations as promptly 
as is reasonable possible. "Force majeure" shall have the meaning applied to it in 
commercial contracts in the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

Y. ARBITRATION 

Any dispute, controversy, or claim arising under, out of, in connection with, or relating to 
this Agreement shall be finally settled by arbitration in accordance with the rules of the 
American Arbitration Association and Virginia law then in effect. A party shall make a 
demand for arbitration within a reasonable time after the dispute, controversy, or claim 
arises, but in no event later than one (I) year from when the complaining party knew or 
should have known of the dispute, controversy, or claim. Any arbitration shall be held in 
Richmond, Virginia. Each party shall bear its own costs and expenses incurred in 
arbitrating the dispute, controversy, or claim. Any award rendered will be final and 
binding on each of the parties to the arbitration and their personal representatives. 
Judgment may be entered on such award in any court of competent jurisdiction. 
[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank.] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Covenant Woods has caused this Agreement to be executed and 
Resident(s) has/have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written: 

COVENANT WOODS 

By: _____________ _ 

Title: ---------------
RESIDENT(S) 

By signing below, I/we attest that I/we have been given the following documents and have been 
given the opportunity to discuss any features of these documents that may have been unclear. 

Date: 

1. Disclosure Statement (at least three days prior to the execution of the Residency 
Agreement). 

2. Resident Handbook. 

Resident Resident 
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